
Agenda 

Town of Duck Council 

Paul F. Keller Meeting Hall 

December 1, 2021 

6:00 p.m. 

Regular Meeting 

__________ 

 

1. Call to Order 

   

A. Pledge of Allegiance 

 

  B. Moment of Silence 

 

2. Swearing in of Town Council Members 

 

3. Election of Town Council Officers 

  

A. Election of Mayor 

 

B. Election of Mayor Pro Tempore  

 

4. Public Comments 

 

5. Special Presentations 

 

A. Introduction/Swearing-In of Police Officer Jeremy Hemilright  

 

B. Introduction of Community Planner Jim Gould 

 

C. Resolution 21-15, a Resolution of the Town Council of the Town of Duck, 

North Carolina, Honoring and Thanking Nancy Caviness for her Service to 

the Town of Duck 

 

D. Presentation of the Town’s Fiscal Year 2020-21 Audit Report 

 

6. Consent Agenda 

 

A. Minutes from the October 6, 2021, Regular Meeting 

 

B. Approve the Master Services Agreement with VC3, Inc. Defining Its 

Business Relationship with the Town and Authorize the Town Manager to 

Execute the Agreement on Behalf of the Town, Allowing the Town to 

Proceed with Converting to a VOIP Phone System. 

 

7. Public Hearings 

  

A. None at This Time 

 

 



8. Old Business/Items Deferred from Previous Meetings 

 

A. None at This Time 

 

9.  New Business 

 

A. Discussion/Consideration of the Appointment of Council Members to Serve 

on/as the Following: 

 

 1. Government Access Channel Committee 

 2. Planning Board – Council Liaison 

 3. Dare County Tourism Board  

 4. Check Signatory – two Council Members 

 5. Albemarle RPO Rural Transportation Advisory Committee 

 

B. Discussion/Consideration of 2022 Council Meeting Date Schedule 

 

C. Discussion/Consideration of the FY 2022-23 Budget Calendar 

 

D. Discussion/Consideration of Establishing a Town Property Advisory 

Committee 

 

E. Discussion/Consideration of Authorizing a Public Hearing on Ordinance 

21-05 Establishing Allowances for Indoor Entertainment Facilities in the 

Village Commercial (V-C) Zoning District 

 

10. Items Referred to and Presentations from the Town Attorney 

 

11.  Items Referred to and Presentations from the Town Manager 

  

A. Departmental Updates 

 

B. November 2021 Financial Presentation 

 

12.  Mayor’s Agenda 

  

13.  Council Members’ Agenda 

 

14.  Other Business 

  

A. Additional Public Comments 

 

15.  Adjournment  

 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #1: 
 

Call to Order 

  

A. Pledge of Allegiance 

 

 B. Moment of Silence 

  

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Call the Town Council to Order 

• Conduct the Pledge of Allegiance 

• Hold a Moment of Silence 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

The Mayor will call the Council to order and the Council will lead the audience in the 

recitation of the Pledge of Allegiance and will hold a Moment of Silence. 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• None 

 



AGENDA:  December 1, 2021   Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #2: 
 

Swearing in of Town Council Members 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• The Town Clerk Will Swear in Town Council Members. 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

On November 2, 2021, an election was held for Town Council Members for the Town of 

Duck was held.  The elected Town Council Members are Don Kingston, Monica 

Thibodeau, Rob Mooney, Sandy Whitman, and Tony Schiano.  The Town Clerk will 

swear in the elected Council Members as required prior to any official action by the 

Council.  Council Members are reminded to bring the certification of election results that 

they should have received from the Dare County Board of Elections.  

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Oath of Office 

 



NORTH CAROLINA 

 

DARE COUNTY 

 

OATH OF OFFICE 

TOWN OF DUCK, NORTH CAROLINA 

 

 

I, Council Member, do hereby solemnly swear, that I will support and maintain the 

Constitution and laws of the United States and Constitution and laws of the State of 

North Carolina not inconsistent therewith and that I will faithfully and impartially 

discharge the duties imposed upon me by law as Council Member for the Town of Duck, 

North Carolina, so help me God. 

 

       ____________________________ 

        Council Member 

 

 

 

Subscribed and sworn before me this 1st day of 

December, 2021. 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Town Clerk  



AGENDA:  December 1, 2021   Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #3: 
 

Election of Town Council Officers 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

A. Elect a Member of Council to Serve as Mayor 

 

B. Elect a Member of Council to Serve as Mayor Pro Tempore 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

In accordance with the Town of Duck Rules of Procedure, the Town Council, after being 

duly sworn in must elect from its membership a Mayor and Mayor Pro Tempore.  The 

Town Manager will lead the new Council in the selection of the Mayor.  After the 

selection of the Mayor, the Mayor will run the Council meeting. 

 

  

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• None 

 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021   Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #4: 
 

Public Comments 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• None required. 

 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

The Council will receive comments from the public. 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• None 

 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #5: 
 

Special Presentations 

 

A. Introduction/Swearing-In of Police Officer Jeremy Hemilright  

 

B. Introduction of Community Planner Jim Gould 

 

C. Resolution 21-15, a Resolution of the Town Council of the Town of 

Duck, North Carolina, Honoring and Thanking Nancy Caviness for her 

Service to the Town of Duck 

 

D. Presentation of the Town’s Fiscal Year 2020-21 Audit Report 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Sett Attachments 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

• See Attachments 

  

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• See Attachments 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #5A: 
 

Special Presentation 

 

A. Introduction/Swearing In of Police Officer Jeremy Hemilright 

  

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• None required 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

Police Chief Jeff Ackerman will introduce our newest Police Officer, Jeremy Hemilright, 

and Town Clerk Lori Ackerman will swear him in.  

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• None 

 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #5B: 
 

Special Presentation 

 

B. Introduction of Community Planner Jim Gould 

  

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• None required 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

Director of Community Development Joe Heard will introduce new Community Planner 

Jim Gould.  

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• None 

 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #5C: 
 

Special Presentation 

 

C. Discussion/Consideration of Resolution 21-15, a Resolution of the 

Town Council of the Town of Duck, North Carolina, Honoring and 

Thanking Nancy Caviness for her Service to the Town of Duck 

  

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Adopt Resolution 21-15 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

• None 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Resolution 21-15 

 



RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF DUCK, NORTH CAROLINA, 

HONORING AND THANKING NANCY CAVINESS FOR HER SERVICE TO THE TOWN 

OF DUCK 

 

Resolution #21-15 

 
WHEREAS, Nancy Caviness has been a resident of the Town of Duck since 1995; and  

 

WHEREAS, Ms. Caviness holds a Master of Science in Community Health Education 

and has enjoyed a diverse professional career in both academia and the non-profit sector; and 

 

WHEREAS, Ms. Caviness is a Firefighter for the Duck Volunteer Fire Department and 

served on the Taskforce for the Incorporation of the Town of Duck; and 

 

WHEREAS, Ms. Caviness has directed the Annual Advice 5K Turkey Trot for many 

years and on her own accumulates more miles running than driving; and 

 

WHEREAS, Ms. Caviness was appointed to serve on the Town of Duck’s first Town 

Council and was elected for three consecutive terms on the Town Council, serving from 

December 2003 until December 2009 and five more terms from December 2011 until December 

2021; and 

 

WHEREAS, as a member of the Town Council, Ms. Caviness distinguished herself as a 

champion of the values and vision of the Town of Duck as embodied in the CAMA Land Use 

Plan.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN 

OF DUCK, NORTH CAROLINA, THIS 1st DAY OF DECEMBER, 2021, that the Town Council 

of the Town of Duck, North Carolina, does hereby honor and thank Nancy Caviness for her 

service to the Town of Duck; and 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Town Council does offer its sincere appreciation 

to Ms. Caviness for her commitment to the Town of Duck and does hereby offer her best wishes 

for her future endeavors.  

 

 

Adopted this 1st Day of December, 2021. 

  

 

     Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

        Town Clerk        



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #5D: 
 

Special Presentation 

 

D. Presentation of the Town’s Fiscal Year 2020-21 Audit Report 

  

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Receive/Discuss Audit Information 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

Lisa Murphy, with the Town’s auditing firm of Johnson, Mizelle, Straub & Murphy, will 

present the findings of the FY 2020-21 Audit to the Town Council. 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Town of Duck Audit Report for Fiscal Year 2020-21 to be Provided 

Prior to the Council Meeting 

 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 
ITEM #6: 
 

Consent Agenda 
 

A. Minutes from the October 6, 2021, Regular Meeting 
 

B. Approve the Master Services Agreement with VC3, Inc. Defining 
Its Business Relationship with the Town and Authorize the Town 
Manager to Execute the Agreement on Behalf of the Town, 
Allowing the Town to Proceed with Conversion to a VOIP Phone 
System. 

 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Approve the Consent Agenda 
 
(As a reminder, the Consent Agenda is intended to be voted on and approved as one motion.  If 
discussion is required on individual items, a motion must be made to remove that item from the 
Consent Agenda and add it to the Regular Agenda.)    

 
 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 
The Consent Agenda includes minutes from the October 6, 2021 Regular meeting and 
approval of a master service agreement with VC3, Inc. for VOIP phone services.  Council 
is asked to adopt the minutes, approve the master service agreement, and authorize the 
Town Manager to execute the agreement with VC3, Inc. as presented. 
 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• October 6, 2021, Regular Meeting Minutes 
• VC3, Inc. Master Service Agreement 



 

1 

 TOWN OF DUCK 

TOWN COUNCIL 

REGULAR MEETING 

 October 6, 2021 

 

The Town Council for the Town of Duck convened at the Paul F. Keller Meeting Hall at 

6:00 p.m. on Wednesday, October 6, 2021. 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT:  Mayor Don Kingston; Mayor Pro Tempore Monica 

Thibodeau; Councilor Nancy Caviness; and Councilor Sandy Whitman. 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS ABSENT: Councilor Rob Mooney. 

 

OTHERS PRESENT: Town Manager Drew Havens, Director of Community 

Development Joseph Heard; Police Chief Jeffrey Ackerman; Fire Chief Donna Black; 

Town Attorney Robert Hobbs; Director of Marketing and Special Events Christian 

Legner; Finance and Human Resources Administrator Jessica Barnes; Senior Planner 

Sandy Cross; and Town Clerk Lori Ackerman. 

 

OTHERS ABSENT:   None. 

 

Mayor Kingston called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.   

 

Mayor Kingston asked Planning Board Chairman Joe Blakaitis to lead the Pledge of 

Allegiance.  Mayor Kingston led the moment of silence. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

 

Mayor Kingston opened the floor for public comments.   He noted that comments will be 

limited to three minutes as there was now a timer for the time limit.  He added that the 

public could email public comments, but they must be received by 4:00 p.m. on the day 

of the Council meeting.  He noted that written comments must also be limited to three 

minutes when read aloud.  He asked that all comments regarding the public hearing be 

held off at this time. 

 

Jane Lindley of 1470 Duck Road was recognized to speak.  Ms. Lindley pointed out that 

Councilor Caviness had decided not to run for re-election this year.  She thanked 

Councilor Caviness for over 20 years of service to the Town of Duck.  She noted that 

Councilor Caviness truly carried the Town in her heart and understood how important the 

community was.  She stated that Councilor Caviness will be missed on the Town 

Council, adding that many of the items that she had worked on will remain and add to the 

vibrancy of the community, including the Town park, boardwalk and Town Hall.  She 

stated that she hoped that Councilor Caviness would run again in the future for Council. 

 

West Stepp of Red Sky Café and NC Coast Restaurant was recognized to speak.  Mr. 

Stepp stated that he wanted to show his gratitude for the Town as well as the Outer Banks 



 

2 

as a whole with regard to forward thinking with regard to the COVID-19 pandemic.  He 

stated that the hospitality business has been affected by it and the emergency order 

regarding tents at businesses would soon be coming under review.  He wanted to let 

Council and the audience know that even though his business had a banner summer, 

COVID-19 caused a lot of businesses many challenges. He noted that one thing about the 

tents was people felt more comfortable eating outside.  He pointed out that his restaurant 

was able to participate in Taste of the Beach in 2020 with one of the big reasons was that 

he was allowed to do it due to the tents.  He suggested that Council extend the 

accommodations for tents so people could continue to dine out in a comfortable, outdoor 

environment. 

 

Kevin Wright of 112 Quail Way was recognized to speak.  Mr. Wright stated that he 

wanted to give Council and the audience an update on the Southern Shores Library 

Committee.  He reminded Council that in 2019, the Town appointed Theresa Cullen and 

him to represent Duck on the Committee.  He explained that the Committee was formed 

to study the feasibility of a Dare County library branch in northern Dare County, which 

consisted of Duck, Southern Shores, Martin’s Point and Kitty Hawk.  He stated that in 

October 2019 a voluntary online survey was put out with 403 total responses and 37 

responses from Duck showing that 91% found a northern branch important for essential 

library services; 80% supporting establishing a branch in Southern Shores; 75% would 

use the library more if a branch were in Southern Shores; and the most desired services 

were to browse/check out/return books, adult and children programs, read 

news/periodicals, and computer access and education. 

 

Kevin Wright stated that in December 2019 the survey findings were presented to the 

Duck and Southern Shores Councils with the Southern Shores Council directing the 

Committee to develop a proposal for the Dare County Board of Commissioners.  He 

stated that in 2020 the Committee identified a location in Southern Shores, explored 

potential grants, and developed a proposal that was presented to the Dare County Board 

of Commissioners at their February 18, 2020, meeting.  He stated that in March 2020 

Dare County Commissioner Steve House stated that he was in support of a branch in 

Southern Shores but then with the COVID-19 pandemic, all activity was suspended until 

early 2021.  He added that in May 2021 the proposal was readdressed with the Dare 

County Board of Commissioners with Chairman Bob Woodard agreeing to consider the 

issue. He noted that informal feedback was that the Board of Commissioners were happy 

with the library status quo and did not support a new branch. 

 

Kevin Wright stated that in May 2021 Commissioner House told the Committee that the 

proposal must be reviewed by the Dare County Library Board prior to any Commissioner 

action but in June 2021 when the Committee made multiple attempts to contact the 

Library Board, including in writing, the efforts failed.  He stated that the Committee 

requested that the Southern Shores Town Council provide assistance for Board contact 

and at their meeting on October 5, 2021, the Southern Shores Town Council reviewed the 

issue and reconfirmed the Dare County Board of Commissioners’ satisfaction with the 

status quo; agreed to help gain access to the Library Board; and decided to keep the 



 

3 

library committee active pending the Library Board review.  He added that he would 

provide Council with another update following the Library Board review. 

 

Ben Vorndran of 104 Sea Hawk Drive West was recognized to speak. Mr. Vorndran 

stated that he wanted to talk about trash.  He explained to Council and the audience that 

he completes trash service in some of the subdivisions in Duck.  He stated that he had 

been thinking about the current trash schedule and was split on it in that he was looking 

at the pros and cons of the schedule.  He stated that taking out two trash cans at one time 

instead of three, based on the Town’s schedule of two trash pickup days and one recycle 

pick up day, made the service easier.  He added that, collecting trash five days a week 

caused backups with traffic.  He stated that he didn’t have a lot of time to do a lot of 

research or obtain input, but the questions he had with regard to recycling that he hadn’t 

been able to research was if recycling cost the Town more than regular trash cans.  He 

thought at one point recycling was comingled with the trash at the transfer station and not 

getting recycled. 

 

Ben Vorndran stated that he had heard some of the other towns were charged extra but 

thought Duck was the only town that uses Waste Management as the Town of Southern 

Shores uses Bayside Disposal.  He thought there were surcharges if more trash gets put in 

with the recycling, but he wasn’t sure about the contracts.  He noted that it would be 

interesting to know those numbers in order to make a more informative suggestion or 

input to the survey.  He stated that he was split on it and wished he had more information 

as more information was based on the contracts the Town currently have and how long 

they were out there. 

 

Town Clerk Lori Ackerman was recognized to speak. Town Clerk Ackerman went on to 

read the written public comments that had been received. 

 

Robert Euler of 102 South Baum Trail was recognized to speak.  Mr. Euler wrote the 

following:  “As president of the Palmers Island HOA, I wanted to register our 

dissatisfaction with the changes made this year to trash and recycling schedules.  With 

trash pickup on Mondays, and recycling on Tuesdays, we find more bins left on the street 

for days, many overstuffed because they missed the scheduled pickup date, and refuse 

blown around the community, an eyesore and rodent control problem.  Because we 

provide a bin return service on day of pickup, it has also increased our costs. Because 

most of our rented homes turn over on Saturday and Sunday, cleaning crews could be 

counted on to take both sets of bins to the street reliably for Monday pickup in the past.  

Now we are expecting renters, who may only be there a week, to learn a more 

complicated schedule. Please return to the previous Monday pickup for both trash and 

recycling during the season.” 

 

There being no one else wishing to speak, Mayor Kingston closed the time for public 

comments. 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

 



 

4 

Minutes from the August 4, 2021, Regular Meeting 

 

Councilor Whitman moved to approve the consent agenda as presented. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 

SPECIAL PRESENTATION 

 

Presentation of Duck Police Department’s FBI-LEEDA Trilogy Award 

 

Police Chief Jeffrey Ackerman was recognized to speak.  Police Chief Ackerman 

explained that the Duck Police Department had recently received the Agency Trilogy 

Award by the FBI Law Enforcement Executive Development Association, also known as 

FBI-LEEDA, because the entire command staff had completed FBI-LEEDA’s three core 

training courses – Supervisor, Command, and Executive Leadership Institute.  He noted 

that the police department was the 24th agency in the country and the second in North 

Carolina to receive such an award. 

 

Mayor Kingston and Council congratulated Chief Ackerman and the Duck Police 

Department on the achievement. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Public Hearing/Discussion/Consideration of Resolution 21-11, a Resolution of the 

Town Council of the Town of Duck, North Carolina, Adopting the Town of Duck 

Comprehensive and CAMA Land Use Plan 

 

Mayor Kingston turned the meeting over to Town Attorney Robert Hobbs. 

 

Town Attorney Robert Hobbs was recognized to speak. Town Attorney Hobbs stated that 

Director Heard would give an overview. 

 

Director of Community Development Joseph Heard was recognized to speak. Director 

Heard stated that on August 5, 2020, Council had voted to adopt a resolution approving 

the draft Comprehensive & Land Use Plan for the Town. He explained that as part of  its 

decision-making process, Council noted that development of the Land Use Plan involved 

substantial public input to identify issues and solutions important to the community and 

will serve as an effective guide to future policies, projects, and decision-making for the 

Town.  He noted that following the initial approval by the Council, the document 

underwent 14 months of formal review by the NC Division of Coastal Management and 

State agencies.  He added that following the amendments to address comments by the 

NCDCM, the revised Land Use Plan now requires review and re-adoption by the Council 

before final review and certification by the Secretary of the NC Coastal Resources 

Commission. 

 



 

5 

Director Heard stated that, as part of the requirements of CAMA, the NC Division of 

Coastal Management coordinated a review of the Duck Comprehensive & Land Use Plan 

with other State agencies.  He stated that the agencies’ review did not result in comments 

that amend the guidelines and recommendations previously developed and adopted by the 

Town, meaning there were no substantive changes to the Plan. He added that the 

requested amendments dealt with issues such as the organization of the document, 

identifying which recommendations are policies or implementation actions, timing of 

implementation, and clarifying or providing additional background information on certain 

topics.  He pointed out that well over 100 minor amendments were made to the 

document. 

 

Director Heard stated that at their public meeting on September 8, 2021, the Planning 

Board reviewed the amendments and voted unanimously to recommend approval of the 

revised Land Use Plan. 

 

Town Attorney Hobbs asked if there were any questions from members of Council. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau asked of there were any additional costs from Stewart.  

Director Heard stated that there were not. 

 

Mayor Kingston asked how often the Plan would need to be renewed. Director Heard 

stated that there was no defined timeframe, but many communities renew it every five 

years. 

 

Town Attorney Hobbs asked if members of the Planning Board wished to make a 

presentation. There were none. 

 

Town Attorney Hobbs asked if anyone from the audience wished to address the proposed 

resolution.  There were none. 

 

Town Attorney Hobbs asked if there were any final questions from Council. There were 

none. 

 

There being no one else wishing to speak, Town Attorney Hobbs closed the public 

hearing and turned the meeting back over to Mayor Kingston. He reminded Council that 

it will require at least three votes to approve the resolution on the first read. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau moved to approve Resolution 21-11 as presented. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

  

OLD BUSINESS/ITEMS DEFERRED FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS 

 

Discussion/Consideration of Changing the Trial Trash Schedule with Waste 

Management 

 



 

6 

Senior Planner Sandy Cross was recognized to speak. Senior Planner Cross stated that 

during the annual pre-season meeting with Waste Management, they requested a change 

to the Town’s contract related to residential solid waste collection service dates. She 

explained that Waste Management proposed a split route to recover trash over the course 

of two days instead of one.  She added that after the proposal, Town staff solicited input 

from property owners, residents, management companies and rollback service companies 

with 367 responses received and the majority in support of the proposed schedule change.  

She noted that the survey indicated that the change was for the summer; however, all the 

collateral material contained dates into the off-season because it was more fiscally 

responsible to print with the expectation that this would be a permanent change and not 

having to reprint everything a second time.  She stated that the Town’s contract with 

Waste Management was a three year one and if the changes that were implemented were 

not acceptable, the contract could be renegotiated if Council so desired. 

 

Senior Planner Cross pointed out that at Council’s September 1, 2021, meeting, nearly 30 

public comments were submitted in opposition to the continuation of the split route 

schedule. She noted that Rob Clendenin and Jerod Roberts of Waste Management were 

present to answer any questions Council may have. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau stated that she has heard a lot of comments regarding five 

day a week for trash on the streets.  She asked if it was because people were bringing 

their cans in the next day.  She noted that there was trash pick up three days a week.  

Senior Planner Cross pointed out that the three day a week trash pick up was only on the 

north side of the Corps of Engineers pier, while the rest is two days a week. She added 

that property owners were required to bring their trash cans in the same day as the trash 

pick up and put them out for pick up the evening before.  Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau 

clarified that the evening before was just for one day. Senior Planner Cross stated she was 

correct, explaining that if a property owner puts their trash can out the night before trash 

pickup, it would need to be rolled back to the house on the evening of trash collection. 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau thought the next pickup day would be on Thursday. 

Senior Planner Cross stated that the days were Monday, Tuesday and Friday for the north 

side.  She thought some of the things staff have heard was the cleaners and rental 

properties were putting their trash out on Saturday, but it was not getting collected until 

Tuesday.  

 

Mayor Kingston asked if there were any issues with the old schedule and getting trash 

collected on Friday.  Senior Planner Cross stated that there were.  Mayor Kingston 

clarified that the trash was never picked up on Saturday.  Senior Planner Cross stated that 

it would be picked up on Monday. 

 

Jerod Roberts and Rob Clendenin of Waste Management were recognized to speak.  Mr. 

Roberts stated that Waste Management had requested a change to split the Town into 

separate sections so it would be easier and more efficient for his company to collect 

waste. He noted that the tonnage has increased in Duck tremendously over the last two 

years.  He added that 2020 was an anomaly but the tonnage did increase in 2020 and in 

2021, the tonnage has been the highest it has ever been.  He stated that Waste 



 

7 

Management is based in Chesapeake, Virginia and they have some windshield time, 

adding that the change was to make it more efficient.  He stated that sending five trucks 

to Duck on a Monday in season to get everything collected has become extremely 

difficult, especially with the current labor shortage.  He noted that they saw that coming 

and the best way to collect it as well as adhering to the contract with the Town regarding 

collecting missed pickups within 24 hours, they brought trucks on Monday and split the 

Town in half  and collected everything on Tuesday. 

 

Jerod Roberts stated that this year alone, there were some service interruptions but were 

able to recover all but one missed collection within 24 hours.  He added that last year was 

different, noting that they have a labor shortage and unforeseen issues in their industry as 

well as the transportation industry. He stated that they have issues with obtaining parts 

for the trucks, pointing out that when a truck does break down, they send residential 

trucks in their place. He stated that all of the issues play a huge part in their ability to 

service the Town.  He explained that Duck was Waste Management’s flagship as it 

pertained to residential service so the change was completed so there would not be many 

interruptions.  He reminded Council and the audience that there were some service 

interruptions this year, but they were able to recover.  He added that they have been in 

weekly communication with Town Manager Havens and Senior Planner Cross where 

they update him on the progress.  He stated that his company has route managers that 

communicate with Senior Planner Cross to let her know the times the drivers finish as 

well as any issues that may arise that can be addressed immediately. 

 

Rob Clendenin stated that with regard to the routes, it takes five trucks to pick up the 

trash on Mondays as it is heavier on Monday than on Friday as more people put their 

trash out on Monday and some residents do not put their trash out on the second day so 

it’s a lighter collection.  He explained that they have always had five collection trucks on 

Monday and four on Friday, but now they have three trucks on Monday and two on 

Tuesday, which were the same five trucks split between the two days.  He stated that they 

could not send half a truck, so they split it so that it was a three-route collection on 

Monday and a two-route collection on Tuesday.  He noted that, to his knowledge, 

Tuesdays have been consistently perfect with no missed collections.  He added that the 

number of trucks has been the same, but it was divided over four days instead of two, 

which allows Waste Management to put the same two drivers to service the Town on 

Monday, Tuesday, Thursday and Friday for a consistent workforce which helps with the 

labor shortage by spreading the collection days over four days. 

 

Mayor Kingston pointed out that tonnage, labor, and equipment were mentioned but 

traffic was not discussed. He noted that the trucks cannot start collecting trash until 7:00 

a.m. He asked if the trucks had the ability to start earlier, they could finish on Mondays 

and Fridays.  Jerod Roberts stated that they could, adding that it was one of the things 

they had discussed prior to this meeting.  He explained that if they had the ability to start 

earlier, it would give them a better window time to get away from the traffic.  He noted 

that in the Hampton Roads area, they start their trucks as early as 3:00 a.m., adding that 

they did not expect to be in Duck that early since it’s a residential area, but they have 

areas where they start at 5:00 or 6:00 a.m. which helps them avoid the traffic.   



 

8 

Mayor Kingston asked what an ideal time would be to start collecting trash.  Jerod 

Roberts stated that 6:00 a.m. would be a good time.  Mayor Kingston asked if Waste 

Management could start at 6:00 a.m., the five trucks could complete their routes in Duck 

on Mondays.  Rob Clendenin stated that they could if they had to.  He added that it would 

still take five trucks due to the volume of trash that would be loaded into the truck. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau asked if, even with the higher volume, the five trucks 

would be adequate.  Jerod Roberts stated that they would but would not work in one day.  

Mr. Roberts explained that the Town’s closest transfer station was almost an hour away, 

so when the trucks pack out, they have to drive to Maple, North Carolina to drop off the 

waste and then come back to Duck, which adds time which was the reason why they have 

the lag time. He added that they have five trucks because they need the capacity.  He 

noted that three trucks on Monday and two on Tuesday helps them have the capacity as 

well as giving them the ability to go to Maple, drop off the waste and then come back to 

Duck with less stress on the vehicles.  He pointed out that there were five trucks and if 

they have issues with trucks then it will be a larger impact on the Town versus dividing it 

which lessens the impact on service interruptions. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau stated that she saw the benefit with having the same route 

drivers as some have been servicing the Town for a long time and were good at it.  She 

asked about the traffic backing up on Duck Road. She further asked how trash would be 

collected if the south end of Town would be serviced on Tuesdays.  Jerod Roberts stated 

they have discussed servicing the south end of Town first with Town Manager Havens 

and Senior Planner Cross regarding rerouting the trucks as they have someone working 

on their routes presently.  He explained that the Town was situated in their system a 

certain way that they were putting the Town in on addresses so they can dive deeper into 

seeing who was collected and who was missed. He added that as far as the rerouting, it 

gives them the ability to see it from the ground floor.  He stated that as they input the 

addresses, their router will go into the system and reroute the trucks, so they are not on 

Duck Road causing a traffic backup.  He stated that they felt making the change in season 

would be the wrong time to do it as they would rather come up with a plan for the off 

season because it gives them more time and ability to fix the problem.  Rob Clendenin 

stated that the routing they were working on will emphasize collecting trash on Duck 

Road first before completing work on the rest of the Town. 

 

Councilor Caviness clarified that if the desire of the community was to return to the two-

day collection – Monday and Friday – and the collection started earlier, Waste 

Management could do that. She further clarified that Waste Management would be able 

to return to the older model with the increased tonnage problems as well as the labor 

issues.  Jerod Roberts stated that if Waste Management went back to the old system with 

five trucks on Monday and Friday in season, the impact would be if there were service 

interruptions, it would be difficult for Waste Management to recover the trash within 24 

hours.  Mr. Roberts stated that the way the service was now, the impact to the community 

is minimal and can be serviced quickly because the north side of Town was lighter than 

the south side.  He stated that if they go back to the old system with five trucks on 

Monday, the collection may stretch through Wednesday if there were truck issues.  Rob 



 

9 

Clendenin pointed out that when they divided it at the Corps of Engineer’s pier, it was an 

arbitrary line, but it worked since 3/5 of the volume was on the south side of Town. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau clarified that 3/5 of the trash was south with having three 

trucks on one day.  She further clarified that if the routing was changed to have the south 

side picked up on Tuesdays with two trucks, there would not be enough capacity.  Rob 

Clendenin stated that the line would be different.  Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau 

thought that the roll out of the cans was another issue. Mr. Clendenin agreed. 

 

Mayor Kingston stated that the Town was getting into the off season and obviously the 

tonnages would decrease.  He thought Waste Management could perform a Monday pick 

up for the Town and use Tuesday as the backup.  He thought Waste Management had 

time to look towards the future to see if there would be the same amount of tonnage in 

2022. He further thought the tonnage increase was due to COVID-19 as well as other 

issues.   Rob Clendenin stated that they planned to leave it as is and not change the 

pickup day.  He added that it was currently four trucks – two on Monday and two on 

Tuesday in the off-season – and if it changed, they would have to send four trucks on 

Monday. 

 

Mayor Kingston pointed out that the Town entered into this as a trial program for the 

summer and didn’t think it would continue into the off-season.  Jerod Roberts stated that 

even with sending four trucks on Monday in the off-season, even though the tonnage 

does decrease, Waste Management still looks at the windshield time and travel time that 

they have to come down to Duck. He added that they have to look at their equipment in 

that if they have service issues or one of their trucks breaks down as well as their labor 

shortage, they have specific guidelines due to COVID-19. He stated that if they do have 

any issues, then the impact during the off-season would be greater as well.  He added that 

he has not heard of any issues since the off-season started with two trucks on Mondays 

and two on Tuesdays. 

 

Mayor Kingston pointed out that during the off-season, if Waste Management collected 

all trash on Mondays, they have Tuesdays as the fall-back day, which is what the citizens 

were used to, noting that it seemed to work.  He added that it has been an unusual 

summer.  Rob Clendenin asked if it would be more difficult for the citizens to have to 

switch back and forth in the off-season from Monday to Tuesday.  Mayor Kingston asked 

for a clarification. Mr. Clendenin stated that changing back to only Mondays in the off-

season would make the people that currently had Tuesday as their pickup day go to 

Mondays.  He added that they were trying to avoid changing the days as much as 

possible.  Councilor Whitman pointed out that Council was hearing from the citizens that 

they want the trash picked up on Mondays and not on Monday and Tuesday or have it 

separated.   

 

Councilor Caviness thought from all the comments that Council had received, they had 

the realities of the mechanism of the service provision from Waste Management, which 

had some limitations, constraints and challenges that may be specific to the pandemic as 

well as the situation with the trash bins, which was not Waste Management’s problem, 



 

10 

adding that it was a community, household and neighborhood problem.  She thought they 

were getting mixed together because the two cannot seem to be separated.  She stated that 

when a neighborhood or property management group was in the habit of rolling the trash 

cans out to the sidewalk on a Saturday, which was when the house was cleaned, the trash 

cans sit there from Saturday until Tuesday morning and then they may or may not get 

rolled back to the house.  She pointed out that it was a problem that will continue 

regardless of what Council does if the properties do not try to sync when the cans get 

rolled to the street and when they get rolled back.   

 

Councilor Caviness pointed out that in years past, every rental home turned over on a 

Saturday and maybe the cans were serviced on Monday and rolled under the house.  She 

added that as houses started to turn over on Saturdays and Sundays, it started to become a 

problem.  She stated that people did not want the trash under the house because of new 

renters coming, but they also did not want the trash on the street because of new renters 

coming.  She stated that what happens is, trash sits out over the weekends.  She pointed 

out that until people were willing to change that to match when the trash gets picked up, 

the Town will continue to have this problem.  She stated that she did not feel it was the 

service provider’s fault but thought the disconnect was when the trash cans were put out 

and rolled back.  She thought if the trash was not being picked up until Tuesday, the cans 

should not be rolled out until Monday evening and not over the weekend. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau agreed with Councilor Caviness’ comments, noting that 

she was in property management.  She thought that someone coming to a house, to have 

someone else’s trash already there was not preferable.  She thought it could be a factor of 

the trash cans as she wasn’t sure how many trash cans were at a home.  She stated that 

her company broadcast messages for her rental properties, which has really helped.  She 

added that her company spends a lot of time and effort in having someone pick up excess 

trash all week long.  She noted that it would be a hard thing to do Town-wide because 

Town staff does not have everyone’s data.  She reiterated that she didn’t disagree with 

Councilor Caviness’ comments. 

 

Councilor Caviness stated that she wasn’t sure what the solution was except to listen to 

the experts in terms of service provision given all of the constraints and then trying to 

figure out a solution as well as what Duck needed to do as a community to make things 

work.  She stated that to answer Rob Clendenin’s question regarding disrupting people if 

the trash was picked up on Monday or Tuesday, for the last 20+ years there have been all 

sorts of changes and people seem to be able to adapt to the changes.  She thought the 

community was in favor of trying the new schedule and have expressed they are not 

happy with the trial.  She thought Council was looking at trying to make some changes 

but there were two different issues to deal with.  She pointed out that there were some 

neighborhoods that do not have individual trash cans, but have a common dumpster, 

which have not been an issue. She thought there were some neighborhoods that would 

benefit from having a common dumpster as the individual trash can may not be doing 

what they should be doing and could look at a solution like some other neighborhoods 

have but she wasn’t sure. 

 



 

11 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau stated that schedule changing does confuse people.  She 

pointed out that there have been a lot of negative comments about the Monday/Tuesday 

trash collection schedule as it has been negatively impacting people. She added that some 

of it was because of Duck Road.  She thought if Waste Management was saying that the 

trash pickup needed to be two days and flip-flopping the route, it could be confusing.  

She reiterated that Council has heard a lot of negative comments from the northern end of 

Town being picked up on Tuesdays. 

 

Senior Planner Cross stated that the communities with split routes were all over the place. 

She stated that Corolla has a split route system by subdivision and not by location.  She 

pointed out that the citizens of Corolla would need to know what subdivision they were 

in to know when their trash will be collected.  She added that staff could work with 

Waste Management to do something different, but the problem was that recycling would 

always be on Mondays, which is the extra day that the citizens on the northern end of 

Town have a problem with.  She explained that if it was switched to the southern end of 

Town, there may be complaints from people on the southern end of Town about the trash. 

She pointed out that when thinking about the trash issues, Council also needed to think 

about the recycling.  She explained that there is contamination with regard to the 

recycling dumpsters and cans.  She wasn’t sure why Tidewater Fibre Recycling was not 

charging the Town for the contamination.  Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau agreed.   

 

Senior Planner Cross pointed out that a lot of the visitors to Duck come from areas that 

do not use single stream recycling, so they do not understand how it works, nor do they 

care.  She stated that the homeowners do care about recycling, but the visitors may not. 

She added that it was a bigger question than just trash that Council will have to grapple 

with. 

 

Mayor Kingston stated that his observation was that Council was getting into a lot of 

peripheral issues. He thought the trash issue needed to be dealt with.  He stated that if 

Waste Management flipped the northern end and the southern end, it would take the 

problem from one end of Town to the other.  He thought moving forward, trash should be 

collected on Monday and the Tuesday pickup be canceled but use it as a backup for 

missed collections on Monday.  He thought Waste Management should be able to handle 

it between now and when the Town starts its busy season.  He suggested that Waste 

Management work with the Town and if they needed an earlier start date to get through 

Duck, he didn’t think anyone would be opposed to Waste Management starting at 5:00 or 

6:00 a.m.  He stated that as the summer approaches, Town staff and Waste Management 

can work together to see how a Monday and Friday pickup could be accomplished.  He 

pointed out that it was getting things back to where they were.  He added that the citizens 

were in favor of the trial period but didn’t like it.  He stated that if it went north and 

south, it wouldn’t work.   

 

Mayor Kingston stated that nothing was being accomplished and felt that the desire of 

Council was for the Town to get back to the previous schedule and then work through the 

issues with Waste Management related to traffic, labor and equipment issues.  He stated 

that between August and September, Council received hundreds of emails regarding the 



 

12 

issue.  He reiterated his suggestion of going back to the previous schedule of collecting 

trash on Mondays only in the off season and have Waste Management work with the 

Town  to see how it could get back to two days versus four as the summer approaches. 

 

Councilor Whitman agreed with Mayor Kingston’s comments.  He suggested that Waste 

Management start collecting trash in Duck beginning at 5:00 a.m.  Jerod Roberts stated 

that, with respect to starting off season with four trucks, they rerouted everything to make 

sure they could prepare as well as provide the best service possible.  He stated that if they 

switched now, it would cause some impacts and service interruptions because they would 

have to reroute everything that they did prior to the start of the season, which will take a 

tremendous amount of time. He pointed out that doing this in the off-season could create 

some serious service interruptions. He added that four trucks coming to Duck on a 

Monday could also provide some service interruptions. 

 

Mayor Kingston thought Council would understand that it may take Waste Management 

time to get back to the previous schedule, but he ultimately wanted the Town to get back 

to that schedule. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau stated that she was hearing, logistically, it was a real 

challenge for Waste Management.  She appreciated that Councilor Whitman thought 

Council would hear just as much negativity on the southern end of Town than what may 

be heard on the northern end. She thought another piece of the issue was that Council was 

presented the new schedule as a trial and now it no longer sounds like a trial but a 

permanent schedule.  She reiterated that Council heard a lot of negative feedback from 

the citizens on the northern end of Town. She stated that it seemed like Waste 

Management was now saying the new schedule wasn’t a trial at all.  She asked if the trash 

volume was low enough, two or three trucks could be sent on a Monday and Friday only. 

She further asked if it would work for Waste Management on the off-season. 

 

Jerod Roberts explained that, logistically, they built the schedule around sending trucks 

and built the collection days for Hampton Roads, Virginia and Duck so they could 

service what needed to be serviced in Hampton Roads and Duck at the same time on 

Mondays and Tuesdays so they wouldn’t have to come back to Duck.  He understood 

Council wanted to switch the schedule back to Monday as well as sending four trucks if 

the volume was low, but logistically it was a little more complex.  He added that they 

would take the suggestion back to their market area and route drivers to let them know 

what needed to be done logistically. He noted that it would take some time. 

 

Mayor Kingston summarized that Council agreed to go to one day a week trash collection 

in the off-season when it was feasible for Waste Management to make that change and 

then Waste Management would work with Town staff to discuss the schedule as the 

tonnage increases for next summer where the desire was to have collection on Mondays 

and Fridays. He stated that it seemed like from Monday through Friday, the trash could 

be collected on Friday for the incoming people over the weekend. 

 



 

13 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau pointed out that the Town always had the Friday 

collection and didn’t think Friday was the issue.  Mayor Kingston agreed, noting that 

trash was currently picked up on Thursday on the southern end of Town, meaning more 

trash build up for the weekend if there was a Thursday pickup.  Councilor Whitman noted 

that his trash was picked up on Monday and Thursday and the northern end gets their 

trash picked up on Tuesday and Friday.  Councilor Caviness pointed out that it was only 

two times in the neighborhood for trash pickup, but Monday was for recycling for the 

entire Town. 

 

Councilor Whitman asked if recycling could be split. Senior Planner Cross stated that she 

had asked Tidewater Fibre Recycling if they would, but they declined.  She explained 

that they have other accounts that they service on other days of the week, adding that they 

service the Towns of Duck and Nags Head on Mondays.  She noted that there are other 

recycling providers, but she wasn’t sure the Town could opt out of the current contract 

with Tidewater Fibre the way it was written since the Town’s current contract expires in 

2023. 

 

Councilor Caviness stated that Monday was the logical day for trash pickup for the 

majority of the community because the recycling trucks also come on Monday.  She 

thought the Town could not make any change but there was also the issue of seeing how 

much recycling was getting contaminated and ending up in the refuse stream as opposed 

to ending up in the recycling stream.  Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau pointed out that 

recycling was another issue.  Councilor Caviness agreed. 

 

Mayor Kingston summarized that Waste Management would come back to Town staff 

with respect to how Duck would have trash collection on Mondays only for the off-

season along with the timeframe to get back to that schedule.  He added that Waste 

Management will work with Town staff with regard to the busy season and how to get 

back to the Monday and Friday collection dates as well as concessions for the start times. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau thought it was definitely an issue that should not be 

tabled until closer to the in-season since it will be here soon. She thought it was a quicker 

conversation than waiting until the spring to discuss the issue.  Mayor Kingston stated 

that he was not suggesting that. 

 

Councilor Whitman suggested January 1, 2022, to know what can and cannot be done. 

Mayor Kingston thought one of the questions that needed to be answered was how 

quickly Waste Management can switch from two days a week to one day.  He thought 

Waste Management could come back to Council to let them know.  Senior Planner Cross 

noted that staff needed time to make sure the information was advertised properly as well 

as ordering new stickers for the trash cans. She pointed out that for the trial period, it was 

done pretty quickly, adding that for this time, it would be more towards the end of the 

year.  Rob Clendenin noted that this was the first week for the off-season in Duck, 

meaning trash collection was on Monday and Tuesday.  Mayor Kingston pointed out that 

the trash trucks came through Duck on Monday before Tidewater Fibre’s, which didn’t 

happen in his neighborhood. 



 

14 

 

Mayor Kingston asked Town Manager Havens for a timeframe that staff needed. Town 

Manager Havens suggested that Town staff work with Waste Management.  He pointed 

out that Jerod Roberts and Rob Clendenin have been very communicative with staff in 

working through the trial period. He added that there will be challenges moving forward 

and Waste Management is up to the challenge and have been very adaptable. He stated 

that the Town will need patience from the residents of Duck as well as cooperation to 

understand what the rules are for rolling the trash cans to the curb and back.  He didn’t 

think the residents were the issue, rather it will be the rental properties. He stated that 

Town staff and Waste Management will need to work with the rental agencies to get the 

word out.  He stated that he would let Council know how quickly Waste Management can 

get the new schedule started.  He thought January 1, 2022, was not an unreasonable time 

for the change. 

 

Councilor Caviness stated that she was on board with the schedule reverting back to the 

previous one.  Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau stated that it needed to be stressed to the 

community on how the change will be made.  She thanked Rob Clendenin and Jerod 

Roberts for their time. 

 

It was consensus of Council to have Town staff and Waste Management work on a new 

trash schedule. 

 

Discussion/Consideration of Sand Volume for the 2022 Beach Renourishment 

Project 

 

Town Manager Havens stated that following receipt of bids that were lower than 

expected for the 2022 beach nourishment project, it was apparent that the Town could opt 

to place more sand during the project as recommended by Coastal Protection and 

Engineering, without exceeding the amount originally budgeted to spend for the project.  

He stated that the Town can add 69,000 cubic yards of sand to the project to bring the 

new total to 494,000 cubic yards.  He noted that this should put the project 23,000 cubic 

yards above the baseline as the Town gets to the 2027 renourishment cycle.  He added 

that the current project would result in a lower volume of sand in the project area in 2027 

than what is expected to be there in 2022. 

 

Town Manager Havens stated that Coastal Planning and Engineering factored in the 

additional sand and adjusted FEMA’s portion of the project costs for the following split 

of the total costs based on Weeks Marine’s bid: 

 

FEMA and State - $2,408,731 

NCDWR Grant - $1,450,921 

Dare County Contribution - $769,572 

Town Funds - $1,442,620 

Grand Total - $6,071,844 

 



 

15 

Town Manager Havens stated that the total costs based on Weeks Marine’s bid with 

$69,000 cubic yards of sand would be as follows: 

 

FEMA and State - $2,415,206 

NCDWR Grant - $1,450,921 

Dare County Contribution - $769,572 

Town Funds - $2,407,148 

Grand Total - $7,069,847 

 

Town Manager Havens stated that if the Town decided to place the additional sand the 

increase would be $964,528 to be borrowed with the five-year special obligation bond, 

resulting in approximately $51,000 additional interest over the term of the loan.  He 

explained that the interest rate for the project would be 1.74% for five years and 1.54% 

for the one-year loan that will be used to pay for the FEMA portion of the project.  He 

added that the rate for the FEMA bond will change at each renewal and was subject to a 

cap, but market dependent. 

 

Mayor Kingston asked if the FEMA figure was based upon the bid from Weeks Marine.  

He further asked why FEMA’s cost would not increase if additional costs were being 

added to the project.  Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau pointed out that the cost increased 

somewhat. Mayor Kingston pointed out that it wasn’t much. Town Manager Havens 

explained that Coastal Protection and Engineering has a model that figures in the 

proportionate share of mobilization costs as well as what FEMA does and does not pay 

for.  Town Manager Havens stated that Council needed to give Town staff direction to 

either keep the sand volume as originally planned or increase it by 69,000 cubic yards. 

 

Councilor Whitman asked if the Town wanted to do December before getting to the bond 

market and it raises it by ¾ of a point, where it would put the Town over budget.  Town 

Manager Havens stated that it would not.  He explained when everything was modeled, 

3% was used, adding that he didn’t believe that the interest rates in the next few months 

for the special obligation debt would get to 3%.  He added that the resolutions that will be 

discussed in New Business state that it cannot exceed 2.5%, so if the next bids come in at 

2.51%, he would need to come back to Council to see if the debt should be issued. 

 

Mayor Kingston asked if DEC Associates and Parker Poe had factored inflation in the 

figures.  Town Manager Havens stated that the numbers shown were the actual bid 

numbers from PNC Bank, noting that they were a little higher than last time due to a 

number of factors.  He stated that the one-year renewal for FEMA was four basis points 

less.  He stated that DEC Associates were doing the model at 2.5% initially and the Town 

has been running at 3%.  Mayor Kingston thought the bottom line was that Weeks Marine 

gave the Town a great opportunity to put more sand on the beach without extending the 

Town’s cost. Town Manager Havens agreed. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau asked when the Local Government Commission was due 

to meet again.  Town Manager Havens stated that their next scheduled meeting will be in 

January; however, if the Town obtains all of the permits and gets everything to them by 



 

16 

October 31, 2021, the staff at the Local Government Commission was willing to entertain 

holding a special meeting. He pointed out that once it gets past October 31, 2021, then all 

of the towns that were going through debt would need to have their independent audits 

turned in and reviewed by the Local Government Commission.  He stated that it should 

not be a problem since the deadline for audits was October 31, 2021. He added that the 

one thing that could hold the project up is if one of the towns did not have their audit 

turned in by the deadline.  Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau clarified that it applied to all 

of the towns and Dare County. Town Manager Havens stated she was correct. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau moved to proceed with the additional 69,000 cubic yards 

of sand to add to the project. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 

Discussion/Consideration of an Extension to the Temporary Accommodations for 

Businesses Subject to COVID-19 Restrictions 

 

Director Heard stated that the current order that offered temporary accommodations to 

businesses was approved by Council on May 19, 2021 and extends through November 

30, 2021.  He explained that the order allows businesses to temporarily use tents, outdoor 

seating and displays, additional signage as well as waiving fees.  He noted that, presently, 

there were no State, county or Town restrictions that limit the capacity or operations of 

businesses due to COVID-19.  He added that over the next few months, the Town will 

need to consider whether or not to extend special provisions granted for businesses 

dealing with COVID-19 related restrictions or go back to how things were prior to the 

pandemic. 

 

Director Heard explained that the Town of Kill Devil Hills adopted a similar extension 

but was worded differently than other communities in that it was open ended.  He added 

that they would be revisiting the issue after November 29, 2021, which gives businesses 

the assurance that it will be in place until at least November 29, 2021, and then their 

Board of Commissioners can consider extensions or evaluate it at that time.  He stated 

that the Town of Nags Head have not considered an extension; however, at their 

upcoming meeting on November 3, 2021, they plan to consider an ordinance amendment 

that would make those provisions permanent as part of their zoning ordinance. 

 

Mayor Kingston asked if the Towns of Kill Devil Hills and Nags Head orders allowed 

seating in parking lots.  Director Heard stated that he wasn’t sure but would get the 

information to Council. 

 

Councilor Whitman asked how many businesses in Duck currently have tents.  Director 

Heard thought there were three or four as well as some of the businesses using tents for 

outdoor displays.  Councilor Whitman asked if there were many tents in businesses other 

than restaurants over the last few years.  Director Heard stated that there were within 

some of the shopping centers. 

 



 

17 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau asked if there have been any issues with the way things 

have been allowed to go in terms of complaints or unforeseen consequences.  Director 

Heard stated that Coastal Cravings had an issue, but it was related to the Health 

Department regarding their continued use of their tent.  He stated that he was not aware 

of any other complaints. 

 

Mayor Kingston asked if occupancy was monitored regarding indoor and outdoor seating 

capacity.  Director Heard thought there was a likelihood of a couple of instances where 

businesses had exceeded occupancy if they opened up full-time indoors and still had 

seating outside under a tent.  He thought there were some instances where it had 

occurred.  Mayor Kingston pointed out that if the restaurant could have full capacity 

indoors, then the outdoor seating should not be needed.  Director Heard agreed, pointing 

out that it was under the direction of the Order.  Mayor Kingston asked when Council 

would need to make a determination on whether to extend the accommodations or not.  

Director Heard stated that he would like to receive Council’s input before the November 

3, 2021, meeting so a final call could be made on the extension of the order.  Mayor 

Kingston asked if Town staff had heard from any other businesses.  Director Heard stated 

that staff have not heard from anyone else. 

 

Councilor Caviness asked if there was any reason not to extend the Order through the end 

of the year for restaurants and groups that may want to plan some kind of holiday event at 

a venue that was big enough that, unless it was held outside, would not happen.  She 

wondered if the Town waited until November, it may hamstring restaurants that may 

want to be open throughout the holiday period.  She thought Council could give them 

some accommodations now through the holiday season.  Mayor Kingston pointed out that 

they were still limited by occupancy. Councilor Caviness agreed. Mayor Pro Tempore 

Thibodeau clarified that they would be limited by occupancy, but it would give them 

more flexibility in how they can conduct their business.  Councilor Caviness agreed, 

adding that they may not do it at all.  Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau noted that 

occupancy will be quite high throughout the holiday season.  She stated that she would be 

in favor of extending the accommodation until the end of the year but thought after that, 

there needed to be some discussion. 

 

Councilor Caviness stated that she would like to hear more feedback from the restaurant 

community since they have been hit hard with regard to COVID-19 and staffing issues.  

She felt Council should give them some clarity so they know they can start planning for 

the holiday season.  Mayor Kingston stated that it could be extended through the first of 

the year as Council will know what will be happening in the spring.  Director Heard 

stated that Council could consider a relatively short extension to allow businesses to get 

through the holiday season. 

 

It was consensus of Council to extend the accommodation through January 16, 2022. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 



 

18 

Discussion/Consideration of Duck Bond Order for Special Obligation Bonds 2021A 

and 2021B: (1) Bond Order Authorizing the Issuance of Special Obligation Bonds 

for the Town of Duck, North Carolina – Town Portion; (2) Bond Order Authorizing 

the Issuance of Special Obligation Bonds for the Town of Duck, North Carolina – 

FEMA Grant Project; (3) Resolution 21-2, a Resolution of the Town Council of the 

Town of Duck, North Carolina, Providing for the Issuance of a Special Obligation 

Bond (Town Portion), Series 2021A; (4) Resolution 21-13, a Resolution of the Town 

Council of the Town of Duck, North Carolina, Providing for the Issuance of a 

Special Obligation Bond (FEMA Grant), Series 2021B 

 

Town Manager Havens stated Council had two sets of bond orders in their agenda 

packets as well as two sets of resolutions.  He explained that Series A bond order and 

resolution was for the Town’s debt and Series B bond order and resolution was the 

FEMA debt.  He noted that four separate motions would be needed for the orders and 

resolutions. He stated that the bond orders declares the Town’s intent to construct the 

project and determines that the Town will be using special obligation bond debt to 

finance the project, and it pledges the Town’s occupancy tax revenue for the debt service.  

He pointed out that the revenue stream to service the debt will come from the MSDs; 

however, the Town cannot pledge that because it was pledging the taxing authority of the 

local government, which could not be done with special obligation bonds.  He added that 

the bond resolutions set the terms of the bonds with a provision to not exceed an interest 

rate of 2.5% and requests that the Local Government Commission sell the bonds to PNC 

Bank.   

 

Town Manager Havens stated that the Local Government Commission requires the Town 

to have a beach nourishment fund on its books and requires as of December 1 of each 

year that the beach nourishment fund contain the greater of the total MSD taxes collected 

in the prior year or $1 million.  He explained that the resolution states that the Town will 

have a balance in its beach fund in order to make the debt service payments.  He added 

that in front of Council was an amended resolution for Series A, noting that it needed to 

be modified to correct an error where the bond counsel had left the interest rate of 1.74% 

rather “than not to exceed”.  He stated that he communicated the error to the bond 

counsel, and they were fine with the change.  

 

Mayor Kingston asked if the Town would need to establish a new fund which could not 

be the existing fund used for beach nourishment.  Town Manager Havens explained that 

Council will adopt an ordinance creating a capital project fund, which was similar to the 

budget ordinance that Council adopts annually.  Mayor Kingston asked if it would be 

separate and distinct from the 2017 capital project fund.  Councilor Caviness clarified 

that it would be two separate accounts.  Town Manager Havens stated that it would not 

be as it would be a project fund as distinct from the general fund and was a mechanism to 

legally receive and spend money.  Mayor Kingston clarified that it would be a new fund 

and would not be a replenishment of the old fund.  Town Manager Havens stated he was 

correct. 

 



 

19 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau clarified that the old fund will dwindle down and the new 

fund the Town would be funding would be a separately allocated number on the 

accounting ledger.  Town Manager Havens wasn’t sure how it would work on the 

accounting ledger, but if the Town wanted take money from the beach nourishment fund, 

Council would need to include appropriating it in the ordinance. Mayor Pro Tempore 

Thibodeau clarified that the two funds would be tied together.  Town Manager Havens 

stated she was correct. 

 

Councilor Caviness clarified that the Local Government Commission wanted to have a 

distinction between this being a renourishment project and not the original project. Town 

Manager Havens stated she was correct. 

 

Mayor Kingston asked if the Town would have close out the fund from 2017.  Town 

Manager Havens stated that he would have to discuss that with Teresa Osborne. 

 

Councilor Whitman asked if the fund was used for collateral.  Town Manager Havens 

stated it was. 

 

Councilor Caviness moved to approve Duck Bond Order for Special Obligation Bonds – 

Town portion – 2021A as presented. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 

Councilor Whitman moved to approve Resolution 21-12 for Special Obligation Bonds – 

Town portion – 2021A as presented. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 

Councilor Caviness moved to approve Duck Bond Order for Special Obligation Bonds – 

FEMA portion – 2021B as presented. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 

Mayor Kingston moved to approve Resolution 21-13 for Special Obligation Bonds – 

FEMA portion – 2021B as presented. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 

Discussion/Consideration of Authorizing the Town Manager to Execute a Contract 

for Duck Trail Improvements Adjoining the Sanderling Neighborhood with Fred 

Smith Company 

 

Senior Planner Cross stated that as part of the Fiscal Year 2021-2022 budget, funding 

was approved for improvements to the Duck Trail shared use path that parallels Duck 

Road.  She stated that bids for improvements north of Oyster Catcher Lane and south of 

Blue Heron Lane were opened on September 23, 2021, with bids received from two 



 

20 

contractors – Fred Smith Company and Hatchell Concrete, Inc.  She noted that Fred 

Smith Company had the low bid at $188,920. 

 

Senior Planner Cross pointed out that, based on engineering estimates, Council had 

budgeted $110,000 for Duck Trail repaving this fiscal year with an additional $25,000 

budgeted for related stormwater management along Duck Road.  She stated that based on 

a conversation with Fred Smith Company, the Town could complete 625 linear feet of the 

Trail within the current budget, excluding any monies paid for engineering and tree 

limbing.  She added that if engineering and tree limbing were included, it would be closer 

to 593 linear feet, which would leave 114 linear feet of permeable concrete and 313 linear 

feet of conventional concrete unfinished in that section. 

 

Senior Planner Cross noted that that Town could choose to fund the full amount in order 

to complete the last high priority area that has root intrusion and standing water.  She 

added that if Council decided to approve the full or partial project, they would need to 

authorize the Town Manager to enter into a contract with Fred Smith Company for the 

work. 

 

Councilor Caviness asked if the tree limbing had been part of the projects in that area or 

if it was something that has not been attended to and now needs to be.  Senior Planner 

Cross explained that the last two years, staff had a tree company come in to perform the 

limbing.  She stated that it could be included in the bid, but the bidders were not tree 

experts so the limbing is done separately through a tree company that the Town uses. 

 

Mayor Kingston asked about Fred Smith Company as he never heard of them.  Senior 

Planner Cross stated that they bought out RPC Contracting. 

 

Councilor Whitman noted that the Town had an upcoming project for the retaining walls.  

He asked if that project could be combined with this one in the hope that it may bring the 

cost of the project down.  Senior Planner Cross stated that she could potentially do that as 

she just put it out to bid.  Director Heard pointed out that it would entail two different 

types of contractors bidding on the projects.  He added that the retaining walls will be 

with marine contractors who build bulkheads and retaining walls, which is different than 

the contractors for the main work.  He thought staff would have to go back and redo the 

bid.  Senior Planner Cross stated that her expectation was that the retaining walls would 

come in high, and if that happens, the Town could bid the Duck Trail improvements and 

the retaining wall improvements as one project, but she wasn’t sure if it would make a 

difference or not. 

 

Councilor Whitman asked if some contractors were not bidding on smaller jobs because 

of their overhead.  Senior Planner Cross thought they were putting in a multiplier to 

compensate for it. Councilor Whitman agreed. 

 

Mayor Kingston asked where the additional $18,000 from Option 2 would come from.  

Senior Planner Cross stated that there may be a project that would start this year.  Town 



 

21 

Manager Havens stated that it would be taken out of contingency or Council could 

appropriate the fund balance. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau clarified that it would be for Option 3. Mayor Kingston 

stated she was correct.  Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau didn’t think it made sense to 

proceed with Option 2. She clarified that the project was to finish the work in that area.  

Senior Planner Cross stated that it was to finish the last bad section in the Sanderling 

subdivision. 

 

Mayor Kingston asked what would compete with the money if the Town opted to go with 

Option 3.  Town Manager Havens stated that the retaining wall project would compete, 

adding that he wasn’t sure what unbudgeted projects may come up during the year.  He 

stated that the retaining wall bids will come in higher than expected. He stated that the 

Town could take some funding from contingency to do more for the project or not do it 

and rebid it in the spring to see what prices are received.  He noted that if the two projects 

weren’t so dissimilar, it would make sense to combine them, but wondered if the Town 

used Fred Smith Company and that company contracted with the marine contractor to 

complete the bulkheads and added a markup to it, he didn’t think it would work. 

 

Councilor Whitman stated that he was going to suggest putting in Option 5 as he liked 

that one but realized it was no longer on the table for consideration. 

 

Mayor Kingston asked if the Town opted to go with Option 2 for the 700 linear feet and 

was left with approximately 300 linear feet, what would be added to it in order to 

complete the project.  He asked how much would be left to still be completed.  Senior 

Planner Cross stated that she had a five-to-10-year Trail improvement plan that she 

would need to look at.  She noted that the last section in the Sanderling subdivision was 

between Blue Heron Lane and Waxwing Lane.  She added that she was looking at their 

condition in that the south side was pretty well improved from the Tuckahoe project and 

could piecemeal it from there.  She stated that if Council wanted to get consistency, the 

next section in Sanderling should be finished.  She pointed out that with one of the 

sections that was already completed, there was still a fair amount of standing water, so 

there will need to be some retrofits. 

 

Mayor Kingston clarified that there would not be an issue taking the 300 linear feet and 

adding additional linear feet for the next year.  Senior Planner Cross did not expect there 

to be an issue. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau thought future Councils should be thinking about 

budgeting higher for ongoing maintenance and improvements.  She stated that the public 

safety issues were concerning to her with regard to the project being completed this year.  

She stated that she was in favor of Option 3 because if 300 linear feet was removed this 

year, it would have to be added next year.  She added that the Town needed to plan to 

continue the maintenance.  She thought if prices do not come down, then Council will 

need to start budgeting more money for the projects.  She reiterated that she was in favor 

of taking money from contingency or the fund balance in order to get the project 



 

22 

completed.  Councilor Caviness asked if the work would be done this coming winter.  

Senior Planner Cross stated that it would be.  Councilor Whitman clarified that the 

project would be almost double the price from the previous year.  Senior Planner Cross 

thought it was but wasn’t sure. 

 

Mayor Kingston asked if it was more of a case that the contractors do not need the work 

at this time.  Senior Planner Cross didn’t think it was because they didn’t need the work 

but more due to labor shortages as well as traffic control.  Mayor Kingston thought the 

question was if Council wanted to take the total contingency and put it into one project or 

do what can be afforded and then combine it into a bigger project next year.  Senior 

Planner Cross stated that the Town could wait and see what happens with the retaining 

walls project and if they come in way over budget, it could be deferred. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau asked what the timeframe would be to reply to the bids.  

Senior Planner Cross thought it was 45 days. She added that she will have the bids from 

the retaining walls at the end of the month and could bring the request back at Council’s 

November 3, 2021, meeting.  Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau pointed out that it would 

give Council more information.  Councilor Caviness stated that she was in favor of 

waiting. 

 

It was consensus of Council to table the issue until their November 3, 2021, meeting. 

 

Discussion/Consideration of an Interlocal Agreement Among Dare County and the 

Towns of Duck, Southern Shores, Kitty Hawk, and Kill Devil Hills for the Execution 

and Administration of the Beach Nourishment Construction Contract 

 

Town Manager Havens stated that, similar to the project in 2017, Dare County has agreed 

to serve as the contracting entity as well as the administrator of the contract for the beach 

nourishment contracts for the four towns.  He explained that having one entity as the 

contact for the contractor and handling disbursements makes the process more efficient 

for the towns and the contractor.  He stated that Dare County’s project manager will 

review each invoice and the towns will each approve invoices for their portion of the 

project, adding that the project manager would make sure that the payments were made 

which has worked well with the previous beach nourishment project. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau moved to approve the form and intent of the interlocal 

agreement and authorize the Town Manager to work with other local managers and 

attorneys on any required changes and authorize the Mayor to sign the final version of the 

agreement, as presented. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 

ITEMS REFERRED TO AND PRESENTATIONS FROM THE TOWN 

ATTORNEY 

 

Town Attorney Hobbs stated he had nothing to report. 



 

23 

 

ITEMS REFERRED TO AND PRESENTATIONS FROM THE TOWN 

MANAGER 

 

Departmental Updates 

 

Fire Chief Donna Black was recognized to speak.  Fire Chief Black gave a brief overview 

of the past month’s fire activities to Council and the audience. 

 

Director Heard gave an overview of the past month’s permit activities to Council and the 

audience. 

 

Police Chief Ackerman gave a brief overview of the past month’s police activities to 

Council and the audience. 

 

Director of Marketing and Special Events Christian Legner was recognized to speak.  

Director Legner gave a brief overview of activities to Council and the audience. 

 

September FY 2022 Financial Presentation 

 

Town Manager Havens gave a short presentation on the September Fiscal Year 2022 

financials to Council and the audience. 

 

MAYOR’S AGENDA 

 

Mayor Kingston stated that his mayor/chairman monthly meetings have dwindled due to 

COVID-19, adding that there has been a decline in cases, which was good news.  He 

stated that he has his NC League of Municipalities Executive Committee meeting on 

October 11, 2021. He thanked Town Manager Havens and Town staff for the candidate 

orientation that was held recently, adding that he wished there was one back in 2009 and 

that it was very beneficial for not only the incumbents but also the challengers.  He 

thanked the League of Women Voters for the recent candidate forum that was held on 

October 4, 2021. 

 

COUNCIL MEMBER’S AGENDA 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau thanked the League of Women Voters for the candidate 

forum.  She thanked Town Manager Havens and Town staff for the candidate orientation. 

She thought Council touched on a lot of important topics at this meeting and thought the 

trash issue was something that the Town will need to focus on as a community, educate, 

and obtain consensus in terms of what the Town’s responsibility was vis-à-vis the actual 

rolling in and out of the trash cans and public education.  She noted that it was difficult 

because of the transient population that has to be educated in a short amount of time.  She 

thought technology would help the Town in the future because things change, and the 

Town can adapt and grow.  

 



 

24 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau stated that it will be a challenge to educate the public 

about the importance of recycling as not everyone understands.  She thought if the Town 

wanted to keep the recycling going and make it viable, the public will need to be 

educated about it.   

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau stated that she would like to keep reporting statistics for 

the EMT service on Council’s radar as she thought there could be some interesting 

statistics on response times, how many EMT calls were switched to ambulances, as well 

as general data regarding responses to medical calls.  She thought having some kind of 

reporting on those type of calls broken down would be helpful. 

 

Councilor Whitman thanked Town Manager Havens and Town staff on the candidate 

orientation. He thanked the League of Women Voters for the candidate forum. 

 

Councilor Caviness thanked the League of Women Voters for the candidate forum. She 

noted that she participated as a citizen.  She thanked the current Council members and the 

new candidates for willing to run for Council. She encouraged the audience to get out and 

vote on November 2, 2021.  She stated that she wanted to share a perspective that she got 

as a viewer as opposed to a participant. She stated that it was interesting to hear all the 

different issues that were coming up such as trash, traffic, the ambulance, and other types 

of things.  She noted that all of those issues were complex and complicated with no easy 

answer.  She added that if one posed those questions to a candidate, there was no easy 

way to answer it because it was so multifaceted.  She urged Council to set aside some 

time at the annual Retreat to discuss some of the issues and bring in the experts as well 

and allow ample time for the public to ask questions so that people can be operating with 

the facts.  She stated that because the issues were so complicated, she thought it was time 

that experts be brought in to get answers. 

 

OTHER BUSINESS 

 

Additional Public Comments 

 

Mayor Kingston opened the floor for public comments.   

 

Ben Vorndran of 104 Sea Hawk Drive West was recognized to speak.  Mr. Vorndran 

stated that he performed an experiment on his own since he was in the trash service, and 

the results were surprising.  He stated that in some of the subdivisions he takes care of as 

well as some of the things he does for the Town of Southern Shores, that he started taking 

trash cans.  He added that in one instance there were four trash cans in one spot, and he 

noticed that each trash can didn’t have much trash in them.  He stated that he took one 

can and moved it to the side and tipped it over.  He explained that, using logic, when on 

vacation, people are more lazy or more relaxed.  He stated that he went with this theme 

throughout the places he services and some of the places that they used to fill the cans 

were only filling two.  He stated that it made him start to think about the issue with Waste 

Management since the representatives kept mentioning the number of trash trucks. He 

stated that there were two regular trash cans and one recycling can that were required at a 



 

25 

home.  He wondered if there was an opportunity to get rid of the Thursday/Friday pick up 

day and see what happens with trash being picked up one day a week.  He noted that he 

was basing his suggestion on his one experiment, adding that he didn’t think he got any 

pushback from anyone that contracts him to service their trash cans. He noted that he did 

not receive any feedback telling him not to knock the trash cans over.  He thought this 

may be another avenue Council could think about if Waste Management was worried 

about how many trash trucks come to Town as well as how much it takes to service the 

trash truck.  He noted that if you gave people the ability to fill ten trash cans, they may do 

that even though they may not need to. 

 

Ben Vorndran stated with regard to the bicycle issue and thinking about making room for 

bicycles, he wondered about the issue in Sanderling with the path.  He pointed out that 

sometimes pre-planning something in the future if the Town has to make room for a 

bicycle lane, this may be the opportunity to look into making that happen. 

 

There being no one else wishing to comment, Mayor Kingston closed the time for public 

comments. 

 

Mayor Kingston noted that the next meeting would be the Regular Meeting on 

Wednesday, November 3, 2021, at 6:00 p.m. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

Councilor Caviness moved to adjourn the meeting. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 

The time was 9:37 p.m. 

 

       ____________________________ 

       Lori A. Ackerman, Town Clerk 

 

Approved: ______________________ 

 

_______________________________ 

Don Kingston, Mayor 



 

1 

Confidential 

 MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 

 

 This Master Services Agreement ("Agreement") is entered into as of this ____ day of ______________, 2021 

(the "Effective Date"), between VC3, Inc., a Delaware corporation having its principal place of business at 1301 

Gervais Street, Suite 1800, Columbia, SC  29201 ("Company"), and Town of Duck, a municipality having its principal 

place of business at 1200 Duck Road, Duck, NC  27949 ("Client"). 

 

 WHEREAS, Client desires to receive certain professional services from Company; 

 

 Client and Company hereby agree as follows: 

 

1. Services To Be Performed.   

 

1.1 Services.  Company will provide computer 

system and network maintenance, software, consulting 

and professional services (the “Services”) as mutually 

agreed to in a written executed attachment to this 

Agreement by Company and Client (a “Work Order”); 

provided however that the parties recognize that 

Company may from  time to time provide Services to 

Client at Client's request without a Work Order, and in 

such cases, these Services shall be subject to and 

governed by the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement and performed by Company on a time and 

materials basis and invoiced at the hourly billing rates 

specified in Exhibit A.  

 

1.2 Form of Work Order.  Each Work Order 

will conform to substantially the following format: 

 

 (a) The Work Order shall be entitled 

"Work Order No. [__] under the Master Services 

Agreement, dated [_________]."   

 

 (b) The contents of the Work Order may 

be included in the body of the Work Order, or in 

separately signed Attachments, as the parties consider 

most practical.  The Work Order shall include a 

provision for the dated signatures of authorized 

representatives of both parties. 

  

1.3 Change Orders.  Client may request a 

change in the scope or nature of the Services in a Work 

Order at any time.  However, changes to the scope of 

the Services in a Work Order can be made only in 

writing executed by both parties. 

 

2. Charges for Services.   

 

2.1 Charges.  Company shall be entitled to 

compensation for the performance of the Services as 

stated in each Work Order.  Unless otherwise 

expressly stated in a Work Order, Company’s 

compensation will be based on direct labor hours 

charged at fixed labor rates.  The Work Order may call 

for a budget of expected charges as a way for both 

parties to monitor performance.  Except as otherwise 

expressly set forth in a Work Order, all Services that 

are identified to be rendered on a time and materials 

basis will be invoiced at the hourly billing rates 

specified in Exhibit A. 

 

2.2 Invoices.  Unless otherwise stated in a Work 

Order, payment for the Services is due monthly when 

and as performance is rendered.  Company shall issue 

invoices to Client for charges when and as they come 

due.  Client shall make payment to Company of all 

such invoices within thirty (30) days from the date of 

such invoice. 

 

2.3 Expenses.  Client shall pay Company for all 

reasonable expenses incurred by Company in the 

performance of the Services, including travel, living, 

and out-of-pocket expenses incurred pursuant to this 

Agreement. 

 

2.4 Effect of Late Payment.  All late payments 

by Client shall bear interest at a rate of one and one-

half percent (1.5%) per month or partial month during 

which any sums were owed and unpaid, or the highest 

rate allowed by law, whichever is lower. 

 

2.5 Collection Costs.  Client shall reimburse 

Company for any expenses and costs it incurs to 

collect any amounts due to Company under this 

Agreement, including reasonable attorneys fees. 

 

2.6 Taxes.  Client shall pay directly, or reimburse 

Company for, and indemnify and hold Company 

harmless from, all taxes and tariffs assessed or levied 

by any governmental entity that are now or may 

become applicable to the Services or measured by 

payments made by Client to Company hereunder, or 

are required to be collected by Company or paid by 

Company to tax authorities including interest 

assessment thereon if such assessments are due to 

Client’s actions or inactions.  This includes, but is not 



 

 

Confidential 

2 

limited to, sales, use, excise, gross receipt and personal 

property taxes, or any other form of tax based on 

services performed, equipment used by Company to 

perform services solely for Client, and the 

communication or storage of data, but does not include 

taxes based upon Company’s net income. 

 

3. Term; Termination.  The term of this 

Agreement shall continue from the Effective Date 

until the earlier of (a) expiration of the term of all 

Work Orders referencing this Agreement or (b) 

termination of this Agreement as provided in this 

Agreement.  Either party may terminate a Work Order 

or this Agreement, as applicable, for material breach 

by the other party of the Work Order or this 

Agreement, as applicable, which is not cured within 30 

days from the receipt by the party in breach of a 

written notice from the other party specifying the 

breach in detail.  Client shall be liable for payment to 

Company for all Services rendered prior to the 

effective date of any such termination.  Expiration or 

termination of any Work Order or this Agreement for 

any reason will not release either party from any 

liabilities or obligations set forth in any Work Order or 

this Agreement which (a) the parties have expressly 

agreed will survive any such expiration or termination 

or (b) remain to be performed or by their nature would 

be intended to be applicable following any such 

expiration or termination. 

 

4. Proprietary Protections. 

 

4.1 Ownership Rights   

 

(a) General.  Each party will retain all 

rights to any software, ideas, concepts, know-how, 

development tools, techniques or any other proprietary 

material or information that it owned or developed 

prior to the Effective Date, or acquired or developed 

after the Effective Date without reference to or use of 

the intellectual property of the other party.  All 

software that is licensed by a party from a third party 

vendor will be and remain the property of such vendor.   

No licenses will be deemed to have been granted by 

either party to any of its patents, trade secrets, 

trademarks or copyrights, except as otherwise 

expressly provided in this Agreement.  Nothing in this 

Agreement will require Company or Client to violate 

the proprietary rights of any third party in any software 

or otherwise.   Notwithstanding anything to the 

contrary in this Agreement, Company (i) will retain all 

right, title and interest in and to all software 

development tools, know-how, methodologies, 

processes, technologies or algorithms used in 

performing the Services which are based on trade 

secrets or proprietary information of Company or are 

otherwise owned or licensed by Company 

(collectively, "tools"), (ii) will be free to use the ideas, 

concepts, methodologies, processes and know-how 

which are developed or created in the course of 

performing the Services and may be retained by 

Company's employees in intangible form, all of which 

constitute substantial rights on the part of Company in 

the technology developed as a result of the Services 

performed under this Agreement.   

 

(b) Materials Developed for or 

Delivered to Client. Client agrees that all software 

and other materials (including, but not limited to 

customizations, modifications, specifications, 

documentation and training materials) developed for 

or delivered to Client pursuant to this Agreement or 

any Work Order, including all related copyrights, 

patent rights, trade secrets, ideas, designs, concepts, 

techniques, inventions, discoveries or other 

intellectual property rights (collectively, the 

“Materials”), shall be the exclusive property of 

Company and the Company shall own all right, title 

and interest therein. In this connection, Client 

acknowledges that all Materials which are or may be 

developed pursuant to this Agreement or any Work 

Order are and shall be the intellectual property and 

confidential proprietary information and products of 

Company, and Client hereby transfers and assigns any 

and all rights in and to the Materials to Company, its 

successors and assigns, including all intellectual 

property rights relating thereto.  From time to time 

upon Company’s request, Client shall confirm such 

assignment by execution and delivery of such 

assignments, confirmations of assignment, or other 

written instruments as Company may request.  

Company agrees that Client shall have a limited 

nonexclusive license to use the Materials internally to 

the extent necessary to carry out and fulfill the terms 

and conditions of the Work Order for which the 

Materials were developed and shall have the right to 

grant a limited nonexclusive license to the third parties 

specifically identified in a Work Order to use the 

Materials solely for the purposes contemplated by 

such Work Order, provided that such third parties shall 

first agree in a signed writing to be bound by the terms 

of this Agreement or such terms as may be acceptable 

to Company. 

 

(c)  Specific Deliverables Owned by 

Client.  Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of 

Section 4.1(b) but subject to any third party rights or 

restrictions and the provisions of Section 4.1(a) and 

the other provisions of this Section 4.1(c),   Client will 

own the copyright  in and to Materials that (i) are 



 

 

Confidential 

3 

developed for and delivered by Company to Client, (ii) 

are paid for by Client, and (iii) are clearly and 

specifically identified in a Work Order as governed by 

the provisions of this Section 4.1(c) (the "Specific 

Client Owned Deliverables"). Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, Company will retain ownership of any 

Company-owned software or development tools that 

are used in producing the Specific Client Owned 

Deliverables and become embedded in the Specific 

Client Owned Deliverables.   Company hereby grants 

to Client a perpetual (subject to compliance with this 

sentence), royalty-free, nontransferable, nonexclusive 

license to use such embedded software and tools (if 

any) solely in connection with Client's internal use and 

exploitation of the Specific Client Owned 

Deliverables and only so long as such software and 

tools (if any) remain embedded in the Specific Client 

Owned Deliverables and are not separated therefrom.  

Company will own all intellectual property rights in or 

related to the Specific Client Owned Deliverables 

other than the copyright ownership rights granted to 

Client pursuant to this Section 4.1(c).   

 

4.2 Client Information.  Company recognizes 

and agrees that, except as specified in Section 4.1, it 

has no claim of ownership to any data, materials or 

information submitted by Client to Company or the 

Services (“Client Information”), which Client 

Information is being provided to Company solely for 

the purposes of enabling Company to render the 

Services, and that title and all ownership rights in and 

to such Client Information shall at all times remain 

with Client.  Client shall have sole responsibility for 

the accuracy, quality, integrity, legality, reliability, 

appropriateness, and intellectual property ownership 

or right to use all Client Information.  

 

4.3 Confidentiality.  

  

  (a) Confidential Information.  This 

Section 4.3 shall apply to all confidential and 

proprietary information disclosed by either party 

(“Disclosing Party”) to the other party (“Receiving 

Party”), including all Client Information, Materials of 

Company, and information related to the Disclosing 

Party’s technology, software, know-how, products, 

potential products, services, potential services, 

financial information, employees, customers, markets 

and/or business information (collectively, 

“Confidential Information”).  The terms and 

conditions of this Agreement and all Work Orders 

shall be treated by Client as the Confidential 

Information of Company.  Confidential Information 

shall not include any information which (i) was known 

to the Receiving Party prior to being disclosed by the 

Disclosing Party, (ii) becomes publicly known through 

no wrongful act of the Receiving Party, (iii) is 

approved for release by written authorization of the 

Disclosing Party, (iv) is received from a third party not 

in breach of any separate confidentiality obligation 

known to the Receiving Party, or (v) is independently 

developed without reference to the Disclosing Party’s 

Confidential Information. 

 

 (b) Scope of Obligation.  The Receiving 

Party agrees to use the Confidential Information of the 

Disclosing Party only as provided for in this 

Agreement.  Each party agrees to hold the other party’s 

Confidential Information in strict confidence and not 

to disclose such Confidential Information to any third 

parties.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, each party 

may disclose the other party’s Confidential 

Information only to those employees, agents, 

representatives and/or consultants who require such 

information only in connection with this Agreement.  

Each party agrees to instruct all such employees, 

agents, representatives and consultants regarding the 

foregoing obligations and ensure that such employees, 

agents, representatives and consultants are bound by 

obligations of confidentiality to the Receiving Party 

that are at least as restrictive as those contained herein.  

Each party agrees that it will take all reasonable 

measures to protect the confidentiality of, and avoid 

the unauthorized disclosure or use of, the other party’s 

Confidential Information in order to prevent it from 

being made public or in the possession of persons 

other than those persons authorized hereunder to have 

any such Confidential Information, which measures 

shall include at least the same degree of care that the 

Receiving Party utilizes to protect its own confidential 

information of a similar nature but in any event shall 

include commercially reasonable precautions 

designed to protect the Disclosing Party’s Confidential 

Information from unauthorized disclosure and/or use. 

 

 (c) Limited Disclosure Right.   

Confidential Information may be disclosed to the 

extent required by court order or as otherwise required 

by law, provided that the Receiving Party, to the extent 

legally permissible, notifies the Disclosing Party 

promptly upon learning of the possibility of any such 

requirement and, to the extent legally permissible, has 

given the Disclosing Party a reasonable opportunity to 

contest or limit the scope of such required disclosure. 

 

 (d) Return of Confidential Information. 

Promptly upon termination of this Agreement, or at 

any other time upon the request by a party, the other 

party shall (i) return to the Disclosing Party or, at the 

Disclosing Party’s request, destroy all Confidential 



 

 

Confidential 

4 

Information of such Disclosing Party, whether in 

paper or electronic form, provided, however that the 

foregoing shall not apply to Confidential Information 

that is stored in the Receiving Party’s electronic 

archives, which Confidential Information will be 

destroyed in the ordinary course of the Receiving 

Party’s business in accordance with its document 

destruction policies; and (ii) certify to the Disclosing 

Party in writing that it has complied with the 

provisions of this Section 4.3. 

 

5. Limited Warranty and Disclaimers. 

 

5.1 Limited Warranty.  Company warrants to 

Client that the Services, as and when delivered or 

rendered hereunder, will substantially conform to the 

description of services or specifications set forth in the 

applicable Work Order.  Company’s sole liability 

under the foregoing warranty shall be to provide the 

services described in Section 5.3 hereof.   

 

5.2 DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES.  THE 

WARRANTY SET FORTH IN SECTION 5.1 

STATES COMPANY’S SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE 

WARRANTY TO CLIENT CONCERNING THE 

SERVICES HEREUNDER.  EXCEPT AS 

EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN SECTION 5.1, 

THE SERVICES ARE PROVIDED STRICTLY 

“AS IS” AND COMPANY MAKES NO 

ADDITIONAL WARRANTIES, EXPRESS, 

IMPLIED, ARISING FROM COURSE OF 

DEALING OR USAGE OF TRADE, OR 

STATUTORY, AS TO THE SERVICES OR ANY 

MATTER WHATSOEVER.   IN PARTICULAR, 

ANY AND ALL WARRANTIES OF 

MERCHANTIBILITY, FITNESS FOR A 

PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND 

NONINFRINGEMENT ARE EXPRESSLY 

EXCLUDED.  COMPANY DOES NOT 

WARRANT, AND SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS 

THAT THE SERVICES BEING PROVIDED 

WILL RESULT IN COST SAVINGS, PROFIT 

IMPROVEMENT, OR THAT THE SERVICES 

WILL BE ERROR-FREE.    THIS IS A LIMITED 

WARRANTY AND IS THE ONLY WARRANTY 

MADE BY COMPANY. 

 

5.3 Notice Obligation; Remedy.  Client shall 

notify Company in writing within thirty (30) days after 

completion of the Services in question when any of the 

Services fail to substantially conform to the 

description of services or specifications set forth in the 

applicable Work Order.  Such notification shall 

include the detailed information necessary for 

Company to verify such nonconformity.  Upon actual 

receipt of such notification and verification of the 

nonconformity, Company shall correct the 

nonconformity so that the Services shall substantially 

conform with the agreed description of services or 

specifications in the applicable Work Order.  Client 

agrees to pay Company for all personnel time and 

expenses incurred in investigating reported 

nonconformities when the alleged nonconformities are 

not discovered.  The passage of the thirty (30) day 

period after completion of the Services in question 

without the notification described herein shall 

constitute final acceptance of the Services. 

 

6. Limitation of Liability. 

 

6.1 COMPANY’S LIABILITY ON ANY 

CLAIM, LOSS OR LIABILITY ARISING OUT 

OF, OR CONNECTED WITH THIS 

AGREEMENT, THE SERVICES OR USE OF 

THE PRODUCT OF ANY SERVICES 

FURNISHED HEREUNDER, SHALL IN ALL 

CASES BE LIMITED SOLELY TO 

CORRECTION OF NONCONFORMITIES 

WHICH DO NOT SUBSTANTIALLY 

CONFORM WITH THE AGREED 

DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES IN A WORK 

ORDER, OR SPECIFICATIONS IDENTIFIED 

IN A WORK ORDER. 

 

6.2 IF FOR ANY REASON COMPANY IS 

UNABLE OR FAILS TO CORRECT 

NONCONFORMITIES AS PROVIDED, 

COMPANY’S LIABILITY FOR DAMAGES 

ARISING OUT OF ANY WORK ORDER FOR 

SUCH FAILURE, WHETHER IN CONTRACT 

OR TORT (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), LAW, 

EQUITY OR OTHERWISE, SHALL NOT 

EXCEED THE AMOUNTS PAID BY CLIENT 

FOR THAT PORTION OF THE SERVICES 

WHICH FAIL TO CONFORM.   IN NO  EVENT 

SHALL COMPANY BE LIABLE UNDER THIS 

AGREEMENT OR ANY WORK ORDER FOR 

ANY AMOUNTS IN EXCESS OF THE 

AMOUNTS PAID BY CLIENT TO COMPANY 

IN THE NINETY DAY (90) PERIOD 

PRECEDING ANY FAILURE OR BREACH BY 

COMPANY OR CLAIM BY CLIENT.  

 

 

6.3 UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL 

COMPANY BE LIABLE TO CLIENT FOR ANY 

LOSS OF USE, INTERRUPTION OF BUSINESS, 

LOSS OR CORRUPTION OF DATA, OR ANY 

INDIRECT, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, 

PUNITIVE OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES 



 

 

Confidential 

5 

OF ANY KIND (INCLUDING LOST PROFITS) 

REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION 

WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT 

(INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), LAW, EQUITY 

OR OTHEWISE, EVEN IF COMPANY HAS 

BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF 

SUCH DAMAGES, OR FOR ANY CLAIM OR 

DAMAGES ASSERTED BY ANY THIRD 

PARTY. 

 

6.4 CLIENT ACKNOWLEDGES THAT 

COMPANY HAS SET ITS FEES, AND 

ENTERED INTO THIS AGREEMENT IN 

RELIANCE UPON THE LIMITATIONS OF 

LIABILITY AND THE DISCLAIMERS OF 

WARRANTIES AND DAMAGES SET FORTH 

IN THIS AGREEMENT, AND THAT THE SAME 

FORM AN ESSENTIAL BASIS OF THE 

BARGAIN BETWEEN THE PARTIES. THE 

FOREGOING LIMITATION OF LIABILITY IS 

INDEPENDENT OF ANY EXCLUSIVE 

REMEDIES FOR BREACH OF WARRANTY 

SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT. 

 

6.5 THE  PROVISIONS OF SECTIONS 5, 6 

AND 7 ARE CLIENT’S EXCLUSIVE 

REMEDIES RELATED TO THE SERVICES, 

ANY FAILURE BY COMPANY TO CORRECT 

NONCONFORMITIES IN THE SERVICES, OR 

FOR BREACH BY COMPANY OF THIS 

AGREEMENT OR A WORK ORDER AND 

SHALL APPLY REGARDLESS OF THE 

SUCCESS OR EFFECTIVENESS OF SUCH 

REMEDIES.   

  

6.6 Client is responsible for adopting reasonable 

measures to limit Client’s exposure with respect to 

such potential losses and damages, including (without 

limitation) examination and confirmation of results of 

the Services prior to use thereof, provision for 

identification and correction of errors and omissions, 

and preparation and storage of backup or duplicate 

data.   Client is also responsible for complying with all 

local, state, and federal laws pertaining to the use and 

disclosure of any Client Information.  

 

 

 

7. Indemnity. 

 

7.1 Infringement Claims. 

 

(a) General.  Subject to Section 6 of this 

Agreement, the limitations set forth below in this Section 

7.1 and the procedures set forth below in Section 7.3, 

Company and Client (each an “indemnifying party”) 

each agrees to defend the other party (each an 

“indemnified party”) against any action to the extent that 

such action is based upon a claim that the Confidential 

Information (other than third party software) provided 

by the indemnitor, or any part thereof, (i) infringes a 

copyright perfected under United States statute, or 

(ii) constitutes an unlawful disclosure, use or 

misappropriation of another party's trade secret.  The 

indemnitor will bear the expense of such defense and pay 

any liabilities, costs and expenses, including reasonable 

attorneys’ fees and expenses (collectively “Losses”) that 

are attributable to such claim finally awarded by a court 

of competent jurisdiction. 

 

(b) Exclusions.  Neither Company nor 

Client will be liable to the other for claims of indirect or 

contributory infringement.  The indemnitor will have no 

liability to the indemnitee hereunder if (i) the claim of 

infringement is based upon the use of Confidential 

Information provided by the indemnitor hereunder in 

connection or in combination with equipment, devices 

or software not supplied by the indemnitor or used in a 

manner for which the Confidential Information was not 

designed, (ii) the indemnitee modifies any Confidential 

Information provided by the indemnitor hereunder and 

such infringement would not have occurred but for such 

modification, or (iii) the claim of infringement arises out 

of the indemnitor's compliance with specifications or 

requirements provided by the indemnitee and such 

infringement would not have occurred but for such 

compliance. 

 

(c) Additional Remedy.  If Confidential 

Information becomes the subject of an infringement 

claim under this Section 7.1, or in the indemnitor’s 

opinion is likely to become the subject of such a claim, 

then, in addition to defending the claim and paying any 

damages and attorneys’ fees as required above in this 

Section 7.1, the indemnitor may, at its option and in its 

sole discretion, (A) replace or modify the Confidential 

Information to make it noninfringing or cure any 

claimed misuse of another’s trade secret or (B) procure 

for the indemnitee the right to continue using the 

Confidential Information pursuant to this Agreement.  

Any costs associated with implementing either of the 

above alternatives will be borne by the indemnitor but 

will be subject to Section 6 of this Agreement.  If neither 

alternative is pursued by, or (if pursued) available to, the 

indemnitor, (x) the indemnitee will return such 

Confidential Information to the indemnitor and (y) if 

requested by the indemnitee in good faith, the parties 

will negotiate, but subject to Section 6 of this 

Agreement, to reach a written agreement on what, if any, 

monetary damages (in addition to the indemnitor’s 



 

 

Confidential 

6 

obligation to defend the claim and pay any damages and 

attorneys’ fees as required above in this Section 7.1) are 

reasonably owed by the indemnitor to the indemnitee as 

a result of the indemnitee no longer having use of such 

Confidential Information.  The payment of any such 

monetary damages will be the indemnitee’s sole and 

exclusive remedy for the inability of the indemnitor to 

implement either of the above alternatives.  

 

7.2 Third Party Indemnification of Company.  

Without limiting Company’s liability  to Client under 

this Agreement, each of the parties acknowledge that  

Company would not enter into this Agreement, and by 

Company entering into and performing its obligations 

under this Agreement, Company will not assume and 

should  not be exposed to the business and operational  

risks associated with Client’s business, and Client 

therefore agrees, subject to Section 7.3 below, to 

indemnify and defend Company and hold Company 

harmless from any and all third party Losses arising 

out of the conduct of Client’s business, including the 

use by Client of the Services.  

 

7.3 Procedures.  The indemnification obligations 

set forth in this Section 7 will not apply unless the party 

claiming indemnification:  (a) notifies the other 

promptly in writing of any matters in respect of which 

the indemnity may apply and of which the notifying 

party has knowledge, in order to allow the indemnitor 

the opportunity to investigate and defend the matter; 

provided, however, that the failure to so notify will only 

relieve the indemnitor of its obligations under this 

Section 7 if and to the extent that the indemnitor is 

prejudiced thereby; and (b) gives the other party full 

opportunity to control the response thereto and the 

defense thereof, including any agreement relating to the 

settlement thereof; provided, however, that the 

indemnitee will have the right to participate in any legal 

proceeding to contest and defend a claim for 

indemnification involving a third party and to be 

represented by legal counsel of its choosing, all at the 

indemnitee’s cost and expense.  However, if the 

indemnitor fails to promptly assume the defense of the 

claim, the party entitled to indemnification may assume 

the defense at the indemnitor’s cost and expense.  The 

indemnitor will not be responsible for any settlement or 

compromise made without its consent, unless the 

indemnitee has tendered notice and the indemnitor has 

then refused to assume and defend the claim and it is 

later determined that the indemnitor was liable to assume 

and defend the claim.  The indemnitee agrees to 

cooperate in good faith with the indemnitor at the request 

and expense of the indemnitor. 

 

8. General Provisions. 

 

8.1 Non-Hire Provision.  Each party to this 

Agreement agrees that it will not hire, employe or 

contract with, or solicit to hire, employ or contract 

with, any person who is, or within the immediately 

preceding one year was, an employee or subcontractor 

of the other party to this Agreement for any purposes 

during the term of this Agreement, or for a period of 

one year after this Agreement terminates.   

 

8.2        Recording. (a) Some Services provided may 

involve recording and/or monitoring. For such 

Services, information uploaded to or in any way 

passing through computer systems used to provide 

the Services, including written, visual, or oral 

communications or other electronic means, may be 

recorded or monitored for quality assurance and 

diagnostic purposes. By accessing or using the 

Services, Client consents to such recording and 

monitoring. Client is also solely responsible for 

informing anyone with whom Client interacts or 

otherwise communicates via the Services that 

information uploaded to or in any way passing 

through the Services, including written, visual or oral 

communications or other electronic means, may be 

recorded or monitored for quality assurance and 

diagnostic purposes.  

  
(b) If phone conferences/conference bridges are 

applicable to the Services being provided to Client, 

Client acknowledges that the laws of certain 

jurisdictions may require that if a conference is 

recorded, all participants in the conference must be 

informed in advance of any such recording, so they 

may consent to being recorded (if required by 

applicable laws). Client acknowledges and agrees 

that Client shall be solely responsible for complying 

with all Applicable Laws and Third-Party Rights 

when using recording features (this includes Client’s 

obligation to obtain the consent, if required by 

applicable laws, of all participants before the 

commencement of the recording). Company shall 

have no liability to Client or any participant in 

Client’s recorded conference with respect to Clients 

obligations under this Section 8.2. 

 

8.3 Conflict.  Any purchase order or other 

document issued by Client is for administrative 

convenience only.  In the event of any conflict between 

this Agreement and any purchase order, this 

Agreement shall prevail. 

 

8.4 Survival.  In the event of any expiration or 

termination of this Agreement, Sections 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 

7, and 8 of this Agreement shall survive and shall 



 

 

Confidential 

7 

continue to bind the parties. 

 

8.5 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be 

governed in all respects by the laws of the United 

States of America and the State of North Carolina 

without regard to conflicts of law principles. The 

parties agree that the United Nations Convention on 

Contracts for the International Sale of Goods is 

specifically excluded from application to this 

Agreement. 

 

8.6 Forum.  All disputes arising under this 

Agreement shall be brought in the state or federal 

courts located in North Carolina, as permitted by law. 

The state and federal courts located in North Carolina 

shall each have non-exclusive jurisdiction over 

disputes under this Agreement. Client consents to the 

personal jurisdiction of the above courts.  

 

8.7 Injunctive Relief.  It is understood and 

agreed that, notwithstanding any other provisions of 

this Agreement, breach of the provisions of this 

Agreement by Client will cause Company irreparable 

damage for which recovery of money damages would 

be inadequate, and that Company shall therefore be 

entitled to obtain timely injunctive relief to protect 

Company’s rights under this Agreement in addition to 

any and all remedies available at law. 

 

8.8 Notices.  All notices or reports permitted or 

required under this Agreement shall be in writing and 

shall be delivered by personal delivery or by certified 

or registered mail, return receipt requested, and shall 

be deemed given upon personal delivery or five (5) 

days after deposit in the mail. Notices shall be sent to 

the parties at the addresses described on the first page 

of this Agreement or such other address as either party 

may designate for itself in writing.  All notices to 

Company must be to its President to be effective. 

 

8.9 No Agency.  Nothing contained herein shall 

be construed as creating any agency, partnership, or 

other form of joint enterprise between the parties. 

 

8.10 Force Majeure.  Neither party shall be liable 

hereunder by reason of any failure or delay in the 

performance of its obligations hereunder (except for 

the payment of money) on account of strikes, 

shortages, riots, insurrection, fires, flood, storm, 

explosions, acts of God, war, governmental action, 

labor conditions, earthquakes, material shortages or 

any other cause which is beyond the reasonable 

control of such party. 

 

8.11 Waiver.  The failure of either party to require 

performance by the other party of any provision hereof 

shall not affect the full right to require such 

performance at any time thereafter; nor shall the 

waiver by either party of a breach of any provision 

hereof be taken or held to be a waiver of the provision 

itself. 

 

8.12 Severability.  In the event that any provision 

of this Agreement shall be unenforceable or invalid 

under any applicable law or be so held by applicable 

court decision, such unenforceability or invalidity 

shall not render this Agreement unenforceable or 

invalid as a whole, and, in such event, such provision 

shall be changed and interpreted so as to best 

accomplish the objectives of such unenforceable or 

invalid provision within the limits of applicable law or 

applicable court decisions. 

 

8.13 Nondisclosure.  Client promises not to 

disclose the terms and conditions of this Agreement to 

any third party without the prior written consent of 

Company. 

 

8.14 Headings.  The section headings appearing 

in this Agreement are inserted only as a matter of 

convenience and in no way define, limit, construe, or 

describe the scope or extent of such section or in any 

way affect this Agreement. 

 

8.15 This section intentionally left blank. 

 

8.16 Right to Engage in Other Activities.  Client 

acknowledges and agrees that Company may provide 

information technology services for third parties at any 

Company facility that Company may utilize from time 

to time for performing the Services.  Nothing in this 

Agreement will impair Company’ right to acquire, 

license, market, distribute, develop for itself or others or 

have others develop for Company similar technology 

performing the same or similar functions as the 

technology and Services contemplated by this 

Agreement. 

 

8.17 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be 

executed simultaneously in two or more counterparts, 

each of which will be considered an original, but all of 

which together will constitute one and the same 

instrument. 

 

8.18 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement 

together with any Work Orders attached hereto 

completely and exclusively states the agreement of the 

parties regarding its subject matter. It supersedes, and 

its terms govern, all prior proposals, agreements, or 

other communications between the parties, oral or 



 

 

Confidential 

8 

written, regarding such subject matter.  This 

Agreement shall not be modified except by a 

subsequently dated written amendment signed on 

behalf of Company and Client by their duly authorized 

representatives. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into this Agreement as of the date first above 

written. 

 

 

 

 COMPANY: 

  

 VC3, Inc. 

  

 

 By:       

 Name:        

 Title:         

 

 

 

 CLIENT:  

 

 

 Town of Duck, NC         

 

 

 By:        

 Name:        

 Title:         

 
 



 

 

Confidential 

9 

Exhibit A 

Hourly Rates 

 

Service Area 

Hourly Bill 

Rate Description of Service Area 

Consulting & 

Project Management 
 $      160.00  

Consulting (Design, Architecture, Planning); Technology Assessments; 

Security Audits.  Project Management.  CIO Consulting Services 

including product evaluations and application/infrastructure planning 

services. 

Application 

Development  
 $      154.00  

Application Software development, design, testing and code revisions.  

Systems Programming (System Level Scripting/Automation).  All 

SharePoint services. 

Web Design 

Services 
 $      144.00  

Web site design and implementation services which are NOT built on a 

Microsoft Sharepoint platform. 

Infrastructure 

Deployment 

Services 

 $      144.00  

Installation and Setup of the following: Networks, Electronic Messaging 

Systems, Servers, SANs, VMWare, Citrix, Network Domains and 

Desktop Deployments. 

Infrastructure 

Maintenance 

Services 

 $      137.00  
Maintenance Services for the following: Networks, Electronic Messaging 

Systems, Servers, SANs, VMWare, Domains, Microsoft Server and 

Desktop support. 

Travel Time  $        96.00  Travel time to and from the Customer.  This rate includes the  mileage 

expense at the current IRS approved mileage rate. 

After Hours Support 

Services 
 $      176.00  

All reactive support services provided to Customer outside of the hours 

of 8am to 5pm Monday through Friday and all services provided on 

National Holidays 

 

Note: Rates will automatically increase on an annual basis equivalent to the CPI change for All Urban 

Consumers.  Annual rate increases will become effective on the first of the month following the release of data 

for the prior calendar year. 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #7: 
 

 Public Hearing 
 

A. None at This Time 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• None 
 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

• None 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• None 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #8: 
 

 Old Business/Items Deferred from Previous Meetings 
 

A. None at This Time 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• None 
 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

• None 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• None 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #9: 
 

New Business 

 

A. Discussion/Consideration of the Appointment of Council Members to 

Serve on/as the Following: 

 

 1. Government Access Channel Committee 

 2. Planning Board – Council Liaison 

 3. Dare County Tourism Board  

 4. Check Signatory – two Council Members 

 5. Albemarle RPO Rural Transportation Advisory Committee 

 

B. Discussion/Consideration of 2022 Council Meeting Date Schedule 

 

C. Discussion/Consideration of the FY 2022-23 Budget Calendar 

 

D. Discussion/Consideration of Establishing a Town Property Advisory 

Committee 

 

E. Discussion/Consideration of Authorizing a Public Hearing on 

Ordinance 21-05 Establishing Allowances for Indoor Entertainment 

Facilities in the Village Commercial (V-C) Zoning District 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• See Attachments 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

• See Attachments 

  

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• See Attachments 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #9A: 
 

New Business 

 

A. Discussion/Consideration of the Appointment of Council Members to 

Serve on/as the Following: 

 

 1. Government Access Channel Committee 

 2. Planning Board – Council Liaison 

 3. Dare County Tourism Board  

 4. Check Signatory – two Council Members 

 5. Albemarle RPO Rural Transportation Advisory Committee 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Appoint Council Members as Necessary to Fill the Positions Listed Above 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

With a new Town Council being seated on December 1, 2021, it is necessary for the 

Council to appoint one or nominate members, as required, to fill the slots listed above.   

 

It should be noted that the enabling legislation for the Dare County Tourism Board 

requires Dare County to approve Board appointments.  To facilitate this process, Dare 

County has requested three names from the Town to be nominated for appointment of 

one position on the Tourism Board.  The Town can prioritize its nominations (first 

choice, second choice, third choice). 

  

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• None 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #9B: 
 

New Business 

 

B. Discussion/Consideration of 2022 Council Meeting Date Schedule 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Adopt the 2022 Calendar per Discussion 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

It is requested that the Council members review the draft calendar for 2022 and discuss 

any alterations. 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Draft 2022 Meeting Calendar 



COUNCIL MEETING DATE 2022 SCHEDULE 

 

 

 January 5 

 

January 19 (Mid-Month Meeting) 

 

January 28 (Winter Celebration Party) 

 

February 2 

 

February 16 and 17 (Retreat) 

 

March 2 

 

March 16 (Mid-Month Meeting) 

 

April 6 

 

April 20 (Mid-Month Meeting) 

 

May 4 

 

May 18 (Mid-Month Meeting) 

 

June 1 

 

June 15 (Mid-Month Meeting) 

 

July 6 

 

July 20 (Mid-Month Meeting) 

 

August 3 

 

August 17 (Mid-Month Meeting) 

 

September 7 

 

September 21 (Mid-Month Meeting) 

 

October 5 

 

October 19 (Mid-Month Meeting) 

 

November 2 

 

November 16 (Mid-Month Meeting) 

 

December 7 

 

December 21 (Mid-Month Meeting) 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #9C: 
 

New Business 

 

C. Discussion/Consideration of the FY 2022-23 Budget Calendar 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Adopt the 2022 Budget Calendar per Discussion 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

It is requested that the Council members review the draft calendar for FY 2022-23 and 

discuss any alterations. 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Draft FY 2022-23 Budget Calendar 



 

 

 

 

 

Proposed Budget and Capital Improvement Plan Calendar 

 

Fiscal Year 2022-23 

 

 

October 1, 2021:   Issue FY 2023 CIP forms to Department Heads 

 

November 15, 2021:   Deadline for submission of CIP forms to Town Manager 

 

November 29, 2021:   Draft CIP Worksheet Reviewed by Department Heads 

 

December 1, 2021:   New Line-Item Additions due to Finance Administrator 

 

January 6, 2022: Preliminary FY 2023 Budget Worksheets Distributed to 

Department Heads 

 

January ??, 2022:  Town Council Strategic Planning Session 

 

February 16-17, 2022  Town Council Retreat – Including CIP Review 

 

March 1, 2022:  Preliminary Revenue Projections Completed 

 

March 1, 2022:  Deadline for submission of budget requests to Town Manager 

 

March 7, 2022:  Department Head Meeting – Preliminary Budget Review 

 

April 9, 2021:   Town Manager develops FY 2023 revenue estimates 

 

April 20, 2022: Town Manager discussion of FY 2023 budget with Town Council 

(mid-month meeting) 

 

April 21, 2022:  Notice for public hearing posted and submitted to newspaper 

 

May 4, 2022:   Public Hearing regarding the Draft FY 2023 Budget 

 

May 18, 2022: Town Council Work Session concerning FY 2023 budget (mid-

month meeting) 

 

June 1, 2022: Adoption of FY 2023 Budget and Capital Improvement Plan 

(regular meeting) 

 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #9D: 
 

New Business 

 

D. Discussion/Consideration of Establishing a Town Property Advisory 

Committee 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Review/Discuss Proposal 

• Consider Adoption of Resolution 21-16 

• Establish a Procedure for Selection of Committee Members and Council 

Liaison 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

Town of Duck staff has recently engaged in preliminary discussions about improvements 

to Town programs and facilities on the Town Hall/Town Park properties.  Concepts to be 

considered include replacement of playground equipment, expansion of playground 

facilities, northern extension of the boardwalk to Resort Realty, activities by the cul-de-

sac deck area, and sunshades on the Town Green.  In order to obtain input and guidance 

from the community, the idea of reestablishing a Town Property Advisory Committee 

was discussed. 

 

Staff is requesting the Duck Town Council to consider establishing a Town Property 

Advisory Committee and beginning the process of soliciting members for the committee. 

A draft set of guidelines for the committee is included in the attached resolution for the 

Council’s consideration. 

  

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Staff Memorandum 

• Draft Resolution 21-16 



 

 

 

 

● ● ●

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

 

TO:  Mayor Kingston & Members of the Duck Town Council 

 

FROM:  Joe Heard, Director of Community Development 

 

DATE:  December 1, 2021 

  

SUBJECT: Establishment of a Town Property Advisory Committee 

 

 

At a public meeting in January 2004, the Duck Town Council voted unanimously to establish a 

Municipal Property Master Plan Study Committee to determine the uses, layout, and design for a 

recently acquired 10.33 acre soundfront property that now comprises much of the Duck Town 

Hall/Town Park campus.  Over the next decade, the committee met when needed to facilitate the 

planning, design, and development of improvements on and adjoining the Town’s property.  The 

committee members advised the Town Council on the selection of a planning/design/engineering 

consultant, coordinated public input and development of a master plan, prepared draft policies 

for the use of public facilities, and coordinated the design/development of the Town Park, 

boardwalk, signage, Town Hall, Meeting Hall, and amphitheater.  With its duties complete, the 

committee last met in 2014. 

 

Town of Duck staff has recently engaged in preliminary discussions about improvements to 

Town programs and facilities on the Town Hall/Town Park properties.  Concepts to be 

considered include replacement of playground equipment, expansion of playground facilities, 

northern extension of the boardwalk to Resort Realty, activities by the cul-de-sac deck area, and 

sunshades on the Town Green.  In order to obtain input and guidance from the community, the 

idea of reestablishing a Town Property Advisory Committee was discussed. 

 

At this time, staff is requesting the Duck Town Council to consider establishing a Town Property 

Advisory Committee and beginning the process of soliciting members for the committee.  A 

draft set of standards for the committee is included in the attached resolution to help guide the 

Council’s discussion.  If a decision is made to establish the Town Property Advisory Committee, 



 

 

the Town Council is requested to appoint a Council member to serve as an ad hoc member and 

liaison to the committee. 



 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF DUCK, NORTH 

CAROLINA, ESTABLISHING A TOWN PROPERTY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

 

Resolution No. 21-16 

 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Duck owns and maintains physical assets including the 

Town Park, Town Hall property, soundside boardwalk, Duck Village sidewalks, and Duck 

Trail shared use path; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the Town of Duck to ensure that these assets 

are used in a manner that meets the needs and desires of the residents, property owners, 

and visitors to the Town of Duck; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Town Council to establish a committee to advise 

the Council members and Town staff concerning the further development and use of these 

valuable community resources. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF DUCK, NORTH CAROLINA that there is hereby established a Town Property 

Advisory Committee to replace the prior Municipal Property Master Plan Advisory 

Committee; and 

  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Town Property Advisory Committee will 

coordinate with Town staff to conduct research and make recommendations to the Town 

Council pertaining to the construction, renovation, improvement, maintenance, and use of 

the Town Park/Town Hall property, boardwalk, Duck Village sidewalks, and Duck Trail 

shared use path; and 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Town Property Advisory Committee will 

consist of seven (7) members appointed by Duck Town Council to include: 

• One representative from the Duck Planning Board; 

• Two representatives from the Duck business community; 

• Two representatives from neighborhood associations; and  

• Two at-large members.   

In addition, a representative from the Duck Town Council will serve as an ad hoc member 

and liaison to the Council.  Members will serve a term that expires on December 31, 2023, 

unless extended by Town Council; and 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the committee members will elect a 

chairperson, establish a regular meeting time at an interval deemed necessary to complete 

their work in a timely manner, and present their findings to the Town Council for 

consideration, discussion, and ultimate approval; and 

 



 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that technical assistance and funding will be 

provided as recommended by the Town Manager and approved by the Town Council to 

assist the Committee in its endeavors. 

 

 

Adopted this 1st day of December, 2021. 

  

 

 

     Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

        Town Clerk   

      

 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #9E: 
 

New Business 

 

E. Discussion/Consideration of Authorizing a Public Hearing on 

Ordinance 21-05 Establishing Allowances for Indoor Entertainment 

Facilities in the Village Commercial (V-C) Zoning District 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Review the Proposed Zoning Text Amendments 

• Consider Authorizing a Public Hearing for the 1/5 Town Council Meeting 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

The applicant has proposed amendments to several sections of the Duck Town Code to 

accommodate the addition of Indoor Entertainment Facilities as a permitted use in the 

Village Commercial (V-C) zoning district.  Proposed amendments include definitions of 

terms, inclusion of Indoor Entertainment Facilities as a permitted use, and establishment 

of minimum parking standards. 

 

At its public meeting on November 10, 2021, the Duck Planning Board voted (3-2) to 

recommend approval of the proposed text amendments as amended per Planning Board 

discussion with the applicant. 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Staff Report 

• Letter of Transmittal to Town Council 

• Text Amendment Application 

• Applicant’s Proposed Text Amendments 

• Applicant’s Comparison of Indoor Entertainment Requirements in 

Ordinances from Surrounding Towns and Counties  

• Draft Ordinance 21-05 



  Town of Duck, North Carolina 

Department of Community Development 

Text Amendment: Indoor Entertainment Facilities 

 

Agenda Item 9E 

 

1 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:  Mayor Kingston and Members of the Duck Town Council 

 

FROM: Joe Heard, AICP, Director of Community Development 

 

DATE: December 1, 2021 

 

RE: Text Amendment Allowing Indoor Entertainment Facilities as a Permitted Use in 

the Village Commercial Zoning District 

 

 

Proposal 

Applicant: Savage Land, LLC (owners of the Scarborough Lane Shoppes) 

Representative: Dave Klebitz, Bissell Professional Group 

 

The applicant has proposed amendments to several sections of the Duck Town Code to 

accommodate the addition of Indoor Entertainment Facilities as a permitted use in the Village 

Commercial (V-C) zoning district and associated changes.  Specifically, the proposed amendments 

include: 

 

156.002  DEFINITIONS. 

Add the following definitions in alphabetical order: 

 

AMUSEMENT ARCADE.  A building or any part of a building in which five or more pinball 

machines, video games or machines or other similar player operated amusement devices are 

maintained.  The term adult arcade is specifically excluded from this definition. 

 

INDOOR ENTERTAINMENT.  A facility that is limited to indoor amusement arcades, pinball 

machines, video games, video machines or other similar player operated amusement devices, 

sport-climbing walls, laser tag facilities, soft play activities for juveniles and miniature golf 

courses.  This definition specifically does not include billiard rooms, bowling alleys, paintball 

facilities, skating rinks, supervised amusement rides including ferris wheels, spinners, carousels 

and the like and go-kart tracks using electric karts.  Beach and charitable bingo, adult arcades, 

sexually oriented business activities, adult live entertainment, and slot machines or devices as 

prohibited by N.C.G.S. 14-306 are specifically excluded from this indoor entertainment use type. 

 

LASER TAG.  A building or any part of a building where an area is maintained to allow five or 

more participants to play a recreational shooting game that uses infrared-emitting light guns to tag 

designated targets typically worn by the participants. 

 

 



  Town of Duck, North Carolina 

Department of Community Development 

Text Amendment: Indoor Entertainment Facilities 

 

Agenda Item 9E 

 

2 

 

156.036  V-C VILLAGE COMMERCIAL DISTRICT. 

Add Indoor Entertainment Facilities as a permitted use as Subsection 156.036(B)(11). 

 

 

156.040  PERMITTED AND PROHIBITED USE TABLE. 

Add Indoor Entertainment Facilities as a permitted use “P” in the V-C column and prohibited use 

“X” in all other zoning districts under the COMMERCIAL: Entertainment/Recreational Facilities 

category. 

 

 

156.094  NUMBER OF OFF-STREET PARKING SPACES REQUIRED. 

Replace current parking standards for Indoor Entertainment Facilities with the following 

standards: 

 

Use Required Parking 

Indoor Entertainment Facilities 1 space per 200 sf of gross floor area  

 

 

Background Information 

To help the Town Council evaluate the proposed amendments, staff has compiled a list of standards 

concerning indoor entertainment for other communities on the Outer Banks. 

 

Southern Shores – No provisions for indoor entertainment facilities.  (NOTE: OBX Escape Room 

was classified and permitted as an “event facility”) 

 

Kitty Hawk – No provisions specifically for indoor entertainment facilities, but miniature golf, 

game rooms, and indoor skate parks are permitted as special uses. 

 

Minimum parking requirements for “indoor entertainment facilities including bowling alleys, 

dance halls, skating rinks, amusement arcades and similar facilities” are 1 parking space per 100 

square feet gross floor area and 1 space per 2 employees. 

 

Kill Devil Hills – Indoor entertainment facilities such as “billiard parlors, video and amusement 

arcades” are permitted uses.  This description does not cover the full breadth of uses typically 

defined in an indoor entertainment facility, but it has been interpreted to include similar uses such 

as laser tag and indoor miniature golf. 

 

Minimum parking requirements for uses consistent with “indoor entertainment facilities” are 1 

parking space for every 3 persons that the facilities are designed to accommodate when fully 

utilized, plus 1 space per 200 square feet of gross floor area used in a manner not susceptible to 

such calculation. 

 



  Town of Duck, North Carolina 

Department of Community Development 

Text Amendment: Indoor Entertainment Facilities 

 

Agenda Item 9E 

 

3 

 

Nags Head – “Indoor entertainment” facilities are permitted uses.  Such uses are defined as 

follows: “Indoor entertainment limited to amusement arcades, pinball machines, video games, 

video machines or other similar player operated amusement devices, billiard rooms, bowling 

alleys, sport-climbing walls, paintball and laser tag facilities, soft play activities for juveniles, 

miniature golf courses, skating rinks, supervised amusement rides including ferris wheels, 

spinners, carousels and the like, and go-kart tracks using electric karts, are permitted in accordance 

with Section 6.6, Table of Uses and Activities. Beach and charitable bingo, adult arcades, sexually 

oriented business activities, adult live entertainment, and slot machines or devices as prohibited 

by G.S. 14-306 are specifically excluded from this indoor entertainment use category.” 

 

Minimum parking requirements for uses consistent with “indoor entertainment facilities” are 1 

parking space per 300 square feet of gross floor area, plus 1 space per 2 employees. 

 

Manteo – No provisions for indoor entertainment facilities.   

 

Dare County – “Indoor recreation uses” are permitted uses.  The County has interpreted this term 

to include typical indoor entertainment uses such as arcades, laser tag, and miniature golf. 

 

The minimum parking requirement for indoor recreation uses is “1 space per 3 people of 

occupancy rating plus 1 space for each 2 employees, OR if an occupancy rating cannot be 

determined, then a ratio of 1 space for each 200 square feet of customer use area plus 1 space for 

each 2 employees shall apply.” 

 

Currituck County – “Indoor recreation/entertainment” is a permitted use. 

 

Minimum parking requirements for this use are 1 parking space per 300 square feet of gross floor 

area. 

 

Nationally, the American Planning Association’s PAS Parking Standards report offer examples of 

parking standards for indoor entertainment and similar uses that vary widely depending on the 

specific type of use.  Standards range from as much as 1 space per 50 square feet customer use 

area to as little as 1 space per 400 square feet gross floor area. 

 

 

Staff Analysis 

Staff finds that the applicant’s proposal is consistent with permitted uses in a majority of our local 

communities.  In most communities where indoor entertainment facilities are allowed, they list or 

interpret similar uses to be permitted uses (Kitty Hawk is the lone exception requiring a special 

use permit).   

 

The initially proposed definition for “indoor entertainment facilities” was taken almost word-for-

word from the Nags Head ordinance.  Following the Planning Board meeting, the proposal was 

amended to exclude certain types of businesses based on their operations and potential impacts.  



  Town of Duck, North Carolina 

Department of Community Development 

Text Amendment: Indoor Entertainment Facilities 

 

Agenda Item 9E 

 

4 

 

For example, indoor amusement rides and electric go-cart tracks were excluded as they typically 

operate with larger machinery that requires a greater amount of space and can have greater impacts 

relating to noise, vibrations, and lighting. 

 

The proposed alternative minimum parking requirements would reduce the Town’s current 

minimum parking standard (from one space per 100 square feet gross floor area to one space per 

200 square feet gross floor area).  After reviewing parking standards both locally and nationally, 

it is apparent that the Town’s current minimum parking standard of one space per 100 square feet 

gross floor area for indoor entertainment facilities is a very substantial parking requirement.  The 

proposed amendment would bring the Town’s standards more in line with typical parking 

standards and is consistent with the standards for retail uses. 

 

 

Consistency w/ Land Use Plan 

The Town of Duck’s adopted CAMA Land Use Plan does not contain recommendations relating 

to the specific amendment being proposed but contains the following general policy statements 

regarding the development of businesses in Duck. 

 

Policy 4: Guide the character, location, and type of development and activity in town to 

reinforce the “Duck Experience”.  

 

4.3: Enhance the character and success of Duck Village and commercial areas. 

 

     4.3.1: Support the development of small, specialty-type shops and the vitality of existing, local 

businesses. 

 

     4.3.3: Work with local businesses and redevelopment projects to coordinate adequate (and 

sometimes shared) parking and loading/off-loading areas. 

 

As part of its recommendation, a majority of the Planning Board members found that the proposed 

text amendment is consistent with the adopted Comprehensive & Land Use Plan. 

 

 

Planning Board Discussion & Recommendation 

Following discussion and consideration at its regular meeting on November 10, 2021, the Duck 

Planning Board voted (3-2, McKeithan/Murray/Morton in favor, Blakaitis/Cofield opposed) to 

recommend approval of the attached text amendment allowing Indoor Entertainment Facilities as 

a permitted use in a Village Commercial (V-C) zoning district.   

 

While reviewing the initially proposed criteria, the Board members raised concerns about the broad 

array of uses permitted under the proposed definition.  In particular, the Board members were 

concerned that certain types of uses including billiard rooms, bowling alleys, paintball facilities, 

skating rinks, supervised amusement rides including ferris wheels, spinners, carousels and the like 



  Town of Duck, North Carolina 

Department of Community Development 

Text Amendment: Indoor Entertainment Facilities 

 

Agenda Item 9E 

 

5 

 

and go-kart tracks using electric karts typically have greater impacts than other uses included in 

the initial definition.  After discussion of these concerns, the applicant agreed to remove uses these 

with potentially greater impacts and narrow the list of permitted uses in the proposed definition.   

 

The Planning Board also questioned the initially proposed parking standards of 1 space per 300 

square feet of customer use area.  While the Board members agreed that the Town’s current 

minimum parking standard of 1 space per 100 square feet is on the more burdensome end of the 

spectrum, the initially proposed standards were conversely on the most lenient end of the spectrum.  

After discussion, the Board and applicant agreed to increase the proposed minimum parking 

standards to 1 space per 200 square feet gross floor area, consistent with retail uses.   

 

Evident by the split vote, the Board members held differing opinions about the suitability of indoor 

entertainment facilities in Duck Village.  The Board members voting in favor of the amended 

proposal (Tim Mckeithan, Marc Murray, and Randy Morton) agreed with the applicant that the 

uses proposed as Indoor Entertainment Facilities are compatible with other uses in Duck Village, 

would not have negative impacts on surrounding businesses or properties, provide family 

entertainment currently lacking in Duck, provide commercial property owners with greater 

flexibility in renting vacant spaces, and is consistent with the Town of Duck Comprehensive & 

Land Use Plan. 

 

When explaining his decision to vote against the proposal, Chairman Joe Blakaitis offered an 

opinion that indoor entertainment facilities are inconsistent with currently allowed uses and not 

needed in Duck Village.  Without citing a specific reference, Vice-Chair James Cofield provided 

his opinion that the proposed uses are inconsistent with the Town’s adopted Comprehensive & 

Land Use Plan.  Mr. Cofield also commented that the proposed uses are not compatible with 

traditional shops and restaurants in Duck Village 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

 

A. Letter of Transmittal to Town Council 

B. Text Amendment Application 

C. Applicant’s Proposed Text Amendments 

D. Applicant’s Comparison of Indoor Entertainment Requirements in Ordinances from 

Surrounding Towns and Counties 

E. Draft Ordinance 21-05 



 

 

 

 

P. O. Box 8369 ● Duck, North Carolina 27949 

252-255-1234  ● 252-255-1236 (fax)  ● www.townofduck.com 

 

 

November 19, 2021 

 

 

RE:  Ordinance 21-05: Text Amendment Allowing Indoor Entertainment Facilities as a 

Permitted Use in the Village Commercial Zoning District 

 

 

Dear Mayor Kingston and Duck Town Council Members: 

 

Following discussion and consideration at its regular meeting on November 10, 2021, the Duck 

Planning Board voted (3-2, McKeithan/Murray/Morton in favor, Blakaitis/Cofield opposed) to 

recommend approval of the attached text amendment allowing Indoor Entertainment Facilities as 

a permitted use in a Village Commercial (V-C) zoning district.   

 

While reviewing the initially proposed criteria, the Board members raised concerns about the broad 

array of uses permitted under the proposed definition and minimal requirements for parking.  After 

discussion of these concerns, the applicant agreed to remove uses with potentially greater impacts 

and narrow the list of permitted uses in the proposed definition.  The applicant also increased the 

minimum parking standards to be consistent with retail uses. 

 

Evident by the split vote, there were differing opinions about the suitability of indoor entertainment 

facilities in Duck Village.  The Board members voting in favor of the amended proposal (Tim 

Mckeithan, Marc Murray, and Randy Morton) expressed agreement with the applicant that the 

uses proposed as Indoor Entertainment Facilities are compatible with other uses in Duck Village, 

would not have negative impacts on surrounding businesses or properties, provide family 

entertainment currently lacking in Duck, provide commercial property owners with greater 

flexibility in renting vacant spaces, and is consistent with the Town of Duck Comprehensive & 

Land Use Plan. 

 

When explaining my vote in opposition, I offered my opinion that indoor entertainment facilities 

are inconsistent with currently allowed uses and not needed in Duck Village.  Without citing a 

specific reference, Vice-Chair James Cofield provided his opinion that the proposed uses are 

inconsistent with the Town’s adopted Comprehensive & Land Use Plan. 

 

Sincerely,   

Joe Blakaitis, Chair 

Town of Duck Planning Board 













 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING ORDINANCE 

OF THE TOWN OF DUCK, NORTH CAROLINA TO ALLOW INDOOR 

ENTERTAINMENT FACILITIES AS A PERMITTED USE IN THE  

VILLAGE COMMERCIAL ZONING DISTRICT 

 

Ordinance No. 21-05 

 

WHEREAS, the Duck Town Council and Planning Board have found that the 

uses proposed as Indoor Entertainment Facilities are compatible with other uses in Duck 

Village and would not have negative impacts on surrounding businesses or properties; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Duck Town Council and Planning Board have found that 

permitting the proposed indoor entertainment uses will allow family entertainment 

opportunities and provide commercial property owners with greater flexibility in renting 

vacant spaces; and 

WHEREAS, the Duck Town Council and Planning Board have found that these 

standards are consistent with the recommendations of the Town’s adopted 

Comprehensive & Land Use Plan. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Town Council for the Town of  

Duck, North Carolina that the Zoning Ordinance (Chapter 156) shall be amended as 

follows: 

 

PART I.  Add the following definitions in alphabetical order to Section 156.002: 

 

AMUSEMENT ARCADE.  A building or any part of a building in which five or more 

pinball machines, video games or machines or other similar player operated amusement 

devices are maintained.  The term adult arcade is specifically excluded from this 

definition. 

 

INDOOR ENTERTAINMENT.  A facility that is limited to indoor amusement arcades, 

pinball machines, video games, video machines or other similar player operated 

amusement devices, sport-climbing walls, laser tag facilities, soft play activities for 

juveniles and miniature golf courses.  This definition specifically does not include billiard 

rooms, bowling alleys, paintball facilities, skating rinks, supervised amusement rides 

including ferris wheels, spinners, carousels and the like and go-kart tracks using electric 

karts.  Beach and charitable bingo, adult arcades, sexually oriented business activities, 

adult live entertainment, and slot machines or devices as prohibited by N.C.G.S. 14-306 

are specifically excluded from this indoor entertainment use type. 

 

LASER TAG.  A building or any part of a building where an area is maintained to allow 

five or more participants to play a recreational shooting game that uses infrared-emitting 

light guns to tag designated targets typically worn by the participants. 

 



 

 2 

 *********************************************************************** 

 

Add Indoor Entertainment Facilities as a permitted use as Subsection 156.036(B)(11). 

 

Add Indoor Entertainment Facilities as a permitted use “P” in the V-C column and 

prohibited use “X” in all other zoning districts under the COMMERCIAL: 

Entertainment/Recreational Facilities category in the Permitted and Prohibited Use Table 

in Section 156.040. 

 

 *********************************************************************** 

 

156.094  NUMBER OF OFF-STREET PARKING SPACES REQUIRED. 

Replace the current parking standard for Indoor Entertainment Facilities in the Number 

of Off-Street Parking Spaces Required Table in Section 156.094 with the following 

standard: 

 

Use Required Parking 

Indoor Entertainment Facilities 1 space per 200 sf of gross floor area  

 

 

PART II.   This ordinance shall be effective upon its adoption. 

 

 

 

        ________________________ 

        Don Kingston, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

______________________________ 

Lori Ackerman, Town Clerk 

 

Date adopted:  ___________________ 

 

Motion to adopt by: ____________________ 

 

Vote:           AYES          NAYS 

 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #10: 
 

Items Referred to and Presentations from the Town Attorney 

 

 

  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• None 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

• None 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• None 

 



AGENDA:  December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #11: 
 

 Items Referred to and Presentations from the Town Manager 

 

A. Departmental Updates 

 

B. November FY 2022 Financial Presentation 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• See attachments 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

• See attachments 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• See attachments 

 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #11A: 
 

Items Referred to and Presentations from the Town Manager 

 

A. Departmental Updates 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• None required. 
 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

The Town Council will receive an update on departmental activities. 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• None. 

 



AGENDA:  December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #11B: 
 

 Items Referred to and Presentations from the Town Manager 

 

B. November FY 2022 Financial Presentation 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• None required 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

A financial summary will be available prior to or at the Town Council meeting.   

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Will be provided at or prior to the meeting 

 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #12: 
 

Mayor’s Agenda 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• None 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

• None  

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• None 



AGENDA: December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

ITEM #13: 
 

Council Members’ Agenda 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• None 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

• None 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• None 

 

 



AGENDA:  December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

ITEM #14: 
 

Other Business 

 

A. Additional Public Comments  

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• None required 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

• Council will take additional comments from the public. 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• None 

 



AGENDA:  December 1, 2021  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #15: 
 

Adjournment 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Per discussion 
 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

The next scheduled meeting will be the Regular Meeting on Wednesday, January 5, 2022 

at 6:00 p.m. 
 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• None 

 


	agenda2021-12-01package complete
	agenda2021-12-01
	agenda2021-12-01order
	agenda2021-12-01swear in council
	agenda2021-12-01swear in council1
	agenda2021-12-01elect officers
	agenda2021-12-01public comments
	agenda2021-12-01special presentation
	agenda2021-12-01special presentationA
	agenda2021-12-01special presentationB
	agenda2021-12-01special presentationC
	agenda2021-12-01special presentationC1
	agenda2021-12-01special presentationD
	agenda2021-12-01consent agenda
	agenda2021-12-01consent agendaA1
	agenda2021-12-01consent agendaB1
	agenda2021-12-01public hearing
	agenda2021-12-01old business
	agenda2021-12-01new business
	agenda2021-12-01new businessA
	agenda2021-12-01new businessB
	agenda2021-12-01new businessB1
	agenda2021-12-01new businessC
	agenda2021-12-01new businessC1
	agenda2021-12-01new businessD
	agenda2021-12-01new businessD1
	agenda2021-12-01new businessD2
	agenda2021-12-01new businessE
	agenda2021-12-01new businessE1
	agenda2021-12-01new businessE2
	agenda2021-12-01new businessE3
	agenda2021-12-01new businessE4
	agenda2021-12-01new businessE5
	agenda2021-12-01new businessE6
	agenda2021-12-01town attorney
	agenda2021-12-01manager
	agenda2021-12-01managerA
	agenda2021-12-01managerB
	agenda2021-12-01mayor
	agenda2021-12-01council
	agenda2021-12-01other business
	agenda2021-12-01adjournment




